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+85 
countries

Occlutech is a fast growing leading specialist  
provider in minimally invasive cardiac implants, 
addressing Congenital Heart Defects, Stroke  
Prevention and Heart Failure. 

No. 2 in Europe 

>146,000
sold implants March 31, 2022 

10
commercial products

No. 3 in the world 
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A leading provider of  
minimally invasive structural 
heart disease implants

O C C LU T E C H I N B R I E F

Since 2003, Occlutech has been developing, manufacturing and commercializing occluders, products 
to close (occlude) cavities between two parts of the heart or in other structures, and interatrial shunt 
products, products to enable blood flow between the atria. Occlutech has a broad and proven product 
portfolio, based on proprietary technology and over 200 patents. Registered in Switzerland, Occlutech 
has manufacturing and R&D facilities in Germany and Turkey, as well as a global service and distribution 
hub in Sweden. Revenue in 2021 amounted to EUR 29,078 thousand (26,702) and the company had 
290 (253) employees at year-end.

Present in +85 markets,  
with direct presence in 15 markets

Direct sales Distributors Global supply hub R&D & manufacturing R&D & manufacturing US office

2003 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

1 5 9 14 20
27

37
46

55
67

81

97

114
127

142

//

Cumulative number of sold devices 2007–2021 (in thousand)

Key focus area 
for expansion

Ongoing clinical 
study to enter  
important market
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Net sales by geography
2021

Europe 70%

MEA 9%

APAC 13%

Americas 8%

Net sales by channel
2021

Direct 58%

Distributor 42%

Net sales by product category
2021

Congenital Heart 
Defects 46%

Stroke 
Prevention 44%

Heart Failure 4%
Accessories 6%

Revenue development 2015 – 2021, (EUR million)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

15.7

22.1
18.7

26.4
29.1

26.7

30.9
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VISION AND MISSION
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Who we are
Occlutech provides minimally invasive cardiac implants for  
Congenital Heart Defects, Stroke Prevention and Heart Failure.

What we do
Develop, produce and commercialize high-quality minimally 
invasive cardiac implants to improve patients lives and address 
unmet medical need. The devices are sold to hospitals and  
clinics and used by physicians in implantation surgery procedures.

Why we do it
Driven by a passion for innovation, we improve the quality of life 
for people with heart conditions and thereby also ease the burden 
on society.

Vision
Our vision is to become a world-leading specialist in cardiac 
implants that address Congenital Heart Defects, Stroke  
Prevention and Heart Failure.

Mission
We improve the quality of life for people with heart conditions and 
are driven by a passion for innovation.
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Improving the quality of life 
& health economics in society

BENEFIT FOR PEOPLE & SOCIETY

Congenital Heart Defects, Stroke and Heart Failure are life-threatening conditions, affecting the individual’s 
quality of life and creating a constant worry for the individual, as well as family and friends. Occlutech’s 
mission is to improve the quality of life for people with heart conditions, driven by a passion for innovation. 

Occlutech offers high-quality, proprietary cardiac implants for 
Congenital Heart Defects, Stroke Prevention and Heart Failure. 
The company’s Atrial Septal Defects (ASD) and Patent Foramen 
Ovale (PFO) occluders involve a minimally invasive procedure to 
close the atrial septum defect and patent foramen ovale, which 
respectively ensure a correct development of the heart and lungs 
and prevent strokes. Occlutech’s Atrial Flow Regulator (AFR) device 
is designed as a novel treatment to address unmet medical needs 
in heart failure patients. The company’s proprietary and patented 

technology platform, developed by extensive in-house expertise, 
enables innovation of new products that improve treatment and 
medical outcome.

Minimally invasive treatment is the preferred method for treat-
ing cardiac conditions, as avoiding open heart surgery significantly 
reduces mean procedure time, hospitalization days and need of 
medication – while medical outcomes are improved. Occlutech’s 
minimally invasive cardiac devices thus improve both the quality 
of life of patients and health economics in society.

To further contribute to society, Occlutech became a signatory member of the UN 
Global Compact in 2021 and is committed to the UN Global Compact corporate 
responsibility initiative and its principles. The company will contribute to the UN 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) where SDG 3: Good health and well-being 
is a focus area.
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Congenital Heart Defects

•  Number 1 most common birth 
defect in the world.

•  1 out of 100 infants impacted.
•  25% require surgery or procedure 

in the first year of life.

ASD Occluder

Closing an opening in the septum.

Stroke Prevention

•  Stroke is the third leading cause 
of death.

•  1 out of 4 people impacted by a 
patent foramen ovale (PFO).

•  Closure of PFO prevents recurrent 
stroke up to 97%.

PFO Occluder

Closing an opening in the septum.

Heart Failure

•  Number 1 driver for unplanned 
hospital admissions.

•  50% of patients diagnosed with 
heart failure expected to die 
within 5 years.

•  Currently limited alternative 
treatment.

AFR Device

Creating a shunt for controlled flow 
of blood.

Occlutech has three main minimally-invasive implants to treat heart diseases

CE-mark: 2007
FDA approval: 2022E

CE-mark: 2007
FDA approval: 2026E

CE-mark: 2019
FDA approval: 2027E
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Regained sales growth and 
strengthened financial position

8.9 percent revenue increase and gradual market 
recovery
Global healthcare markets have been dampened by the Covid-19 
pandemic since Q2 2020. Although 2021 was hit by several variants 
of the virus, it is good to see that the pandemic is easing now at 
the beginning of 2022 and that country after country has started to 
decrease restrictions. 

Occlutech’s sales followed a very positive progression year-
on-year, considering the ongoing pandemic and given the limited 
access to hospitals. Keeping the remaining difficult conditions 
in mind, our sales performance certainly confirms the quality 
and competitiveness of our products. Our revenue increased by 
8.9 percent for the full year compared with 2020, amounting to 
EUR 29,078 thousand (26,702). The European market remains 
Occlutech’s largest market, and revenue increased by 8.3 percent, 
reaching EUR 20,275 thousand (18,704), which corresponds to 69.7 
percent (70.0) of Occlutech’s total revenues for the full year 2021.

Profitable business
Revenue from the uptick in sales had a positive impact on the 
gross margin for the year and we have a profitable base busi-
ness with our structural heart portfolio. We continue to invest 
into growth areas of geographical expansion as well as the heart 
failure market, and we aim to be profitable within 3 – 5 years.

Successfully completed private placement of 
shares amounting to SEK 450 million to finance 
further growth
During the year, the Board decided to withdraw a planned IPO and 
instead complete a private placement of shares corresponding 
to SEK 450 million before transaction costs. The placement was 
signed by the Fourth Swedish National Pension Fund, Carnegie 
Private Banking and several other investors. The private placement 
will provide us with the financial strength to continue with clinical 
trials for regulatory approval in the US. 

Positive progress in portfolio development 
We continued to progress well in our regulatory paths in 2021. 
The ASD Occluder, PFO Occluder and Atrial Flow Regulator (AFR) 
are all CE-approved products. The company is moving ahead to 
complete its Premarket Approval (PMA) for the ASD Occluder in 
the US market and has an ongoing clinical study in China. 

In August 2021, the FDA granted Occlutech conditional approval 
for a prospective, randomized, multi-center, controlled, clinical study 
(OCCLUFLEX) that aims to compare outcomes of PFO closure 
by Occlutech’s PFO Occluder to the standard of care in patients 
suffering a cryptogenic stroke. In December 2021, Occlutech met 
all conditions of the trial. The Investigational Device Exemption (IDE) 
allows Occlutech’s PFO Occluder to be used in a clinical study to 
collect safety and efficacy data to support a PMA. We anticipate 
to receive FDA market approval for the US in 2026. 

In November 2021, another milestone was reached when the 
FDA granted conditional approval of the company’s IDE application 
to conduct a pivotal human clinical study of Occlutech’s Atrial Flow 
Regulator (AFR) for heart failure. The study is designed to show 
safety and efficacy in a randomized clinical trial (RCT). Occlutech 
expects to receive FDA market approval for the US in 2027 – the 
timeline was slightly adjusted given the announcement of com-
petitor data in February 2022, that came in good time to include in 
Occlutech‘s clinical trial design.

Sustainability matters
Congenital Heart Defects, Stroke and Heart Failure are life-threat-
ening conditions, affecting the individual’s way of life and creating 
a constant worry for the individual, as well as family and friends. 
Our minimally invasive cardiac implants thus improve both the 
quality of life of patients and health economics in society. 

Global healthcare markets have been dampened by the Covid-19 pandemic since Q2 2020. Although 
2021 continued to be affected by the virus, Occlutech had a strong annual revenue growth of 8.9 per-
cent to EUR 29,078 thousand, confirming confidence in the company’s products and market potential.  
A completed private placement of shares amounting to SEK 450 million improved the company’s ability 
to accelerate its clinical programs and facilitate Occlutech’s growth strategy.

CEO’S LETTER
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To further contribute to society, Occlutech became a signatory 
member of the UN Global Compact in 2021 and has committed 
to its ten principles in the areas of human and labor rights, the 
environment and anti-corruption, and will contribute to the UN 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDG). Initially, we have focused 
on SDG 3: Good health and well-being and SDG 5: Gender equality 
where the company considers it has the great opportunity to 
contribute. We aim to maintain a good balance in terms of age, 
gender, and ethnicity, creating an innovative and dynamic work-
ing environment. We will continue to develop our sustainability 
strategy and activities in 2022.

I am proud that the company’s activities have produced 
results, and today we have an even gender distribution both in 
terms of employees and managers at the company, something 
that also characterizes the composition of our Board. 

Tangible growth opportunities and global expansion
Occlutech has a proven track record of commercialization, with 
an annual high growth rate of products sold since 2007, strong 
global market position and an effective go-to-market strategy with 
direct sales and distributors. The primary focus of our growth 
strategy is to continue to drive sales of current products in existing 
markets and expand into new markets and drive the heart failure 
market with our AFR shunt device. Accounting for approximately 
30 percent of the global structural heart defect occluder market 
and characterized by an attractive pricing and reimbursement 
system, the US is a significant growth opportunity for us. During 
the year, we took one important step to penetrate this market 
by establishing a subsidiary to focus on clinical trials, regulatory 
approvals, logistics and distribution. 

The Russian military invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 has 
resulted in immense human suffering and increased global uncer-
tainty. There is a risk of disruptions and a slowdown in economic 

activity in general and further tightening of the global supply chain. 
It’s currently difficult to assess how this will affect Occlutech’s future 
sales, however the revenue from Russia, Belarus and Ukraine was 
limited to below 5 percent of total revenue for 2021 and is why the 
impact on the company is expected to be limited.

After a long break with hardly any, or only virtual, congresses, 
in-person meetings have re-started and we kicked off 2022 with a 
presence at the Swedish cardiovascular spring meeting in Malmö, 
and at the DGK Congress in Mannheim where we sponsored a very 
successful symposium focused on our AFR device. More events 
are planned for 2022 and we are looking forward to seeing many 
of our customers, distributors and KOLs at the most relevant 
congresses in our industry.

Solid platform for long-term profitable growth 
Finally, it has been an incredibly exciting year where I have also been 
able to welcome new members to my management team. I would 
like to take this opportunity to thank the management team and all 
of Occlutech’s employees for their efforts over the year. 

Going forward, we expect a positive impact from the gradual 
market recovery, with stronger demand and better access to cus-
tomers. Strengthened by the equity capital we have raised, I am 
confident that with our strong market position, proven expertise 
in commercialization and effective marketing strategy, coupled 
with our experienced organization, management team and Board 
of Directors, we have a solid platform for long-term profitable 
growth. This will enable us to become a leading specialist provider 
of cardiac implants that address congenital heart defects, stroke 
prevention and heart failure. 

Sabine Bois
CEO

The successful private placement 
of shares amounting to SEK  
450 million allows us to  
accelerate our clinical  
programs with the aim  
of generating long-term  
value for shareholders  
and society.

Sabine Bois, CEO

”
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Important milestones  
and recovery in sales

EUR 000  2021  2020  2019  2018 

Revenue 29,078  26,702  30,875  26,423 
Gross profit 21,398  20,082  23,023  20,538 
Gross margin, % 73.6  75.2 74.5 77.7
EBITDA -6,465  -3,994  1,274  3,930 
EBITDA margin, % -22.2  -15.0  4.1  14.9 
Adjusted EBITDA -3,360  -3,994  1,274  3,930 
Adjusted EBITDA margin, % -11.6  -15.0  4.1  14.9 
EBIT (Operating profit/loss) -8,017  -5,402  268  3,156 
EBIT margin, % -27.6  -20.2 0.01 11.9
Adjusted EBIT -4,912  -5,402  268  3,156 
Adjusted EBIT margin, % -16.9  -20.2 0.01 11.9
Net interest-bearing (debt) 35,823 -4,966  -5,397  -7,119 
Equity ratio, % 53.9 8.0  2.8  -2.1 
Cash flows from operating activities -8,984  -5,046  -2,422  -750 
Items affecting comparability -3,105  – – –
Earnings per share (EPS) -0.38 -0.14  -0.10  -0.02 

n   At the end of December 2021, 
Occlutech successfully completed a 
private placement of shares amount-
ing to SEK 450 million. The placement 
was signed by the Fourth Swedish 
National Pension Fund, Carnegie 
Private Banking and several other 
investors.

n  In November, Atrial Flow Regulator 
(AFR) received the US FDA break-
through device designation and 
conditional approval of the pivotal 
heart failure study (FROST).

n   In August, the US FDA conditionally 
approved Occlutech’s PFO Occluder for 
use in a clinical study to collect safety 
and effectiveness data to support a 
Premarket Approval, and granted IDE 
approval in December. 

n  In June, an important milestone 
toward approval of the Atrial Septal 
Defect Occluder (ASD) in China was 
achieved as the completion of patient 
recruitment was accomplished. 

n   In February, patient enrollment for the 
AFR CE-mark Prelieve study in EU was 
completed.

n  The Executive Management Team and 
Board of Directors were strengthened 
by the addition of new members with 
extensive experience from the industry 
and listed companies.

OUTCOME 2021

Significant events 2021

Covid-19 Pandemic 
Whilst Covid mutations are expected to continue, the company expects the impact on 
the healthcare system to decrease as a result of improved vaccine and treatment and 
society’s adoptions.
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Sustainability targets 
Occlutech’s main sustainability target is to improve quality of life for people with heart conditions.  
To further contribute to society, Occlutech has committed to the UN Global Compact corporate 
responsibility initiative and its principles in the areas of human rights, labor, the environment and 
anti-corruption, and the company will contribute to the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDG). 
Occlutech has initially focused on SDG 3: Good health and well-being and SDG 5: Gender equality, 
where the company considers having the great opportunity to contribute. 

~15%
annual organic growth 

>75%
gross margin 

Financial targets

Dividends
The Board of Directors’ intention is not to propose any dividends to shareholders until the Company 
generates long-term, sustainable profitability. Any future dividends and the size thereof will be  
determined based on the Company’s long-term growth, earnings performance and capital needs, 
considering current objectives and strategies.
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Addressable market provides 
a significant opportunity

MARKET OVERVIEW

The global addressable market for structural heart disease 
implants was estimated at around EUR 380 million in 2021. It is 
expected to grow around 10 percent annually over the next years 
and amount to around EUR 800 million in 2026. The developing 
market for Interatrial Shunt Devices, a novel treatment of unmet 
medical needs for heart failure patients, had an estimated potential 
value of around EUR 3.9 billion in 2021, and will amount to EUR 
4.6 billion in 2026. Fundamentally, births and increased treatment 
adoption drive Structural Heart Defect volumes, while ageing 
populations and lifestyle diseases, such as diabetes and obesity, 
affect Heart Failure volumes. 

In Q1 2022 CORVIA Medical, a company in the interatrial shunting 
device segment, has announced their data from the Reduce Lap-Hf II  
trial which showed neutral results. The randomized study used 
based on latest insights to Heart Failure broad eligibility crite-
ria and as in many other developing therapies, it underlines the 
importance of defining the right patient population. Nevertheless, 
the study showed a benefit for 2/3 of the patients. Occlutech is 
positive going forward and will review the market potential and 
outlook and if needed update accordingly.

Occlutech sells and markets its implants within three markets, the Congenital Heart Defects Occluders 
market, the Stroke Prevention Occluders market, and the Interatrial Shunt Devices market. The Congenital 
Heart Defects and the Stroke Prevention markets are jointly defined as the Structural Heart Market.

Market data from market study conducted by the consultancy firm Roland Berger in 2021. 

2021 E 2026 E

€ 0.4 € 0.8

€ 3.9 € 4.6

€ 4.3
€ 5.4

n Interatrial Shunt Devices
n  Structural Heart Occluders

Market potential for Structural Heart Occluders 
and Interatrial Shunt Devices (EUR billion)
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Proven track record in  
innovation and  
commercialization

OPERATIONS & STRATEGY 

A milestone in the development of septal occluders was achieved 
in early 2007, when the Occlutech ASD Occluder and the PFO 
Occluder received a CE-mark. These were further improved during 
the same year and the outcome was a ground-breaking braiding 
technology and clamp-free shaping. Occlutech has continuously 
improved and developed its products and the ASD and PFO 
Occluder sold and marketed today is the third product generation. 
Since the regulatory approval of the first device, Occlutech has 
evolved into a leading provider in the field of Structural Heart 
Defect implants and in 2019 received approval for its Atrial Flow 

Regulator (AFR) addressing Heart Failure, which will expand the 
company’s addressable market substantially. 

One of the greatest challenges when new and innovative med-
ical care technologies are introduced to the market, is ensuring 
that healthcare systems around the world understand their value 
and include the new treatment in the care that is offered. The 
value of a treatment is determined differently in different countries 
and Occlutech works on a variety of activities to ensure that the 
company’s products are included in the reimbursement systems 
in the markets where the products are marketed. 
 

The inception of Occlutech dates back to 2003 when Professor Hans Figulla at Jena University and 
various engineers developed a new generation of occluders. The objective was to reduce the material 
usage while enhancing flexibility and adaptability when closing septal defects. 

Business model – from inhouse innovation to high-quality medical implants for patients in need

Research & 
Development

Prototype 
production

Component 
purchasing

Manufacturing Order  
handling

Logistics
Direct sales

Distribution

Customer 
feedback

Market
data

Business
intelligence

•  Test and validate 
prototypes

•  Test and validate

•  In-house 
production

•  Quality testing
•  Sterilization 

(outsourced)

• Warehouse
•  Order handling
•  Sales buffer
•  Quality control

•  Full logistics 
services by  
third party

•  Quality  
testing

Distributor
managementSupportTraining

Occlutech

Customer 
supportTrainingMarketingLead

generations

Customer
(Private and 

public hospitals 
and clinics)

Patient

All outsourced processes are subject to Occlutech’s quality standards.
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Increase market shares in 
current markets
Occlutech currently markets its products in 
over 85 countries and has an established 
direct sales organization serving direct 
markets in Germany, Italy, France, the UK, 
the Nordic region, Benelux, Canada, Aus-
tralia and New Zealand. To continue to cap-
ture market shares in current markets, the 
company aims to continue to offer custom-
ers its easy-to-use products in connection 
with individualized after-market customer 
support. Important factors in the field of 
medical devices are the brand awareness 
and the evidence of clinical data. To con-
tinue to increase its brand awareness in 
current markets, the company will retain 
its proven marketing strategy of conduct-
ing selective marketing initiatives at key 
conferences, utilize virtual sales tools and 
continue to work closely with international 
Key Opinion Leaders to drive brand aware-
ness and clinical evidence. 

In addition to its direct markets, 
Occlutech has an extensive distributor 
network comprising 55 distributors. The 
company aims to strengthen its coopera-
tion models in its distributor markets with 
market-leading distributors to leverage 

their respective market standing. Occlutech 
views its distributors as an integral part 
of the company’s sales organization. 
To continue to drive sales in distributor 
markets, Occlutech intends to continue 
to support its distributors with marketing 
materials, targeted sales activities and 
leverage virtual tools to increase learning 
and awareness. 

 
Expand into new markets
Occlutech has identified the US as one of 
the company’s key markets mainly due to 
the size, anticipated growth of the market, 
attractive pricing and reimbursement sys-
tem. In 2021, the US market was estimated 
to account for around 30 percent of the 
global Structural Heart Defect Occluder 
market and is expected to grow. In addi-
tion to market size and growth, the US 
has a favorable reimbursement system in 
place for minimally invasive procedures 
for Structural Heart Defects. During 2021, 
Occlutech established a wholly-owned 
subsidiary in the US, focusing on marketing 
of the company’s products, setup of distri-
bution network, logistics management and 
own direct sales personnel. 

In addition to the US market, Occlutech 
estimates that the Chinese market offers 
a potential high-volume market for the 
company. 

Drive AFR sales
The Heart Failure market is an attractive 
market, based on its size and high unmet 
medical needs in the underlying patient 
population. The combination of the large 
market for Heart Failure treatment, the 
novelty of the device, no current treatment 
alternatives, and the price levels, provide 
a highly attractive market opportunity for 
Occlutech.

Short-term, the company will focus its 
sales efforts of the AFR Device for Heart 
Failure in the company’s direct markets and 
other European markets. Occlutech aims 
to conduct a clinical trial in the US with 
the expectations of receiving regulatory 
approval for the AFR for Heart Failure in 
2027. 

 In 42 customer interviews conducted by Roland Berger for 
the purpose of the Market Study achieves scores for product 
design and clinical evidence that are high and higher than the 
average for competitors Abbott, Gore and Lifetech.

Tangible growth opportunities

Occlutech has a proven track record in commercialization, with a high annual growth rate of products 
sold since 2007, strong market positions and an effective go-to-market strategy with direct sales and 
distributors. The primary focus of Occlutech’s growth strategy is to continue to drive sales of current 
products in existing markets and expand into new markets with the current product offering. Launching 
the AFR product globally, capturing the significant US opportunities, and expanding into China, represent 
exciting, tangible growth opportunities for Occlutech. Occlutech’s key growth opportunities include: 

OPERATIONS & STRATEGY 
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Increase market shares  
in current markets
•  Increase sales efforts in direct markets.

•  Increase penetration by raising awareness.

Expansion into new markets
•  The ASD Occluder addressing Congenital  

Heart Defects. 

•  Conduct clinical study for Stroke Prevention  
and Heart Failure in the US.

•  Finalize clinical study and apply for regulatory 
approval in China.

Drive AFR sales
•  Drive sales from Heart Failure in  

the EU and US.

•  Leverage track-record from Structural  
Heart Device market.

•  Capitalize on attractive average  
selling prices.

Key growth opportunities
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Innovative, high-quality, 
easy-to-use products

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT 

Occlutech has R&D teams located at two production sites in 
Jena, Germany and Istanbul, Turkey. The teams work accord-
ing to the same processes for design and development. The 
Company’s research and development department manages 
the design and development activities and is responsible for 
three main processes: i) research and innovation, ii) new product 
development, and iii) post-market engineering. As of December 
31, 2021, Occlutech’s research and development organization 
consisted of 26 full-time physicians, scientists and engineers, 
most of whom have substantial experience in medical device 
development. Occlutech has a demonstrated record of developing 
new products which receive the appropriate product approval and 
regulatory clearances. During 2021, EUR 10,530 thousand (EUR 
10,314 thousand) was invested in R&D. 

Broad and proven portfolio – more than 200 patents
Occlutech classifies its portfolio into three categories: congenital 
heart defects (CHD), stroke prevention, and heart failure (HF). 
The company has a broad and proven product portfolio built 
on proprietary technology and more than 200 patents. Most of 
Occlutech’s products are CE-certified for the European market. 
Sales of the company’s products outside Europe are subject to 
regulatory requirements that vary from country to country. With 
some exceptions, most countries generally accept approval by 
the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) or CE certification.

Innovative, high-quality, easy-to-use products
Occlutech has a proprietary and patented technology platform 
built on extensive in-house expertise. This enables the company 
to innovate high-quality and easy-to-use products. A survey 
conducted by the consultancy firm Roland Berger shows that 
Occlutech’s products outperform competitors on clinical evidence, 
product design and support – key purchasing criteria for hospitals 
when selecting structural heart devices. 

Positive progress in portfolio  
development in 2021
Occlutech continued to progress well in their regulatory paths in 
2021. The ASD Occluder, PFO Occluder and Atrial Flow Regulator 
(AFR) are all CE-approved products. The company has made 
good progress to complete its Premarket Approval (PMA) for 
the ASD Occluder in the US market and has an ongoing clinical 
study in China. 

In August 2021, the FDA granted Occlutech conditional 
approval for a prospective, randomized, multi-center, controlled, 
clinical study (OCCLUFLEX) that aims to compare outcomes of 
PFO closure by Occlutech’s PFO Occluder to the standard of care 
in patients suffering a cryptogenic stroke. In December 2021, the 
FDA lifted all conditions of the trial and fully approved the study. 
The Investigational Device Exemption (IDE) allows Occlutech’s 
PFO Occluder to be used in a clinical study to collect safety and 
efficacy data to support a PMA. The company anticipates that it 
will receive FDA market approval for the US in 2026. 

In November 2021, another milestone was reached when the 
FDA granted conditional approval of the company’s IDE application 
to conduct a pivotal human clinical study of Occlutech’s Atrial 
Flow Regulator (AFR) for heart failure. The study is designed 
to show safety and efficacy in a randomized clinical trial (RCT). 
Occlutech expects to receive FDA market approval for the US in 
2027 – the timeline was slightly adjusted given the announcement 
of competitor data in February 2022, that came in good time to 
include in Occlutech‘s clinical trial design. 

Occlutech introduces new, innovative products to the market to meet customer demand. The company 
has an extensive history of research and development focusing on innovative devices for treating Struc-
tural Heart Defects and Heart Failure. To maintain its competitive edge in the market, Occlutech focuses 
on and invests in, the operation of its research and development function and seeks to continuously 
improve existing products and expand its current portfolio with new products. 
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Outperform on clinical evidence, 
product design and support
– key purchasing criteria for hospitals and clinics.
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ASD Occluder
Congenital Heart Defects: ASD closure is recommended or 
considered for patients with a shunt direction from left to right 
(ACC; AHA; ESC).

PFO Occluder
Stroke Prevention: PFO closure is recommended or consid-
ered for patients between the ages of 16 and 60/65 with a 
shunt direction from right to left (GSC; ESC).

Atrial Flow Regulator (AFR)
Heart Failure: Interatrial shunt devices not yet specifically 
recommended due to lack of clinical evidence (ACC; AHA; ESC). 
AFR still in early data gathering. First reimbursement hurdles in 
Europe taken and limited funding available.

20 21



Product portfolio with numerous  
near-term catalysts

Completed premarket approval (PMA) application

Ongoing clinical study

Approved

Approval for clinical 
study received

CE Approved

Pulmonary Hypertension (PAH) –submit Humanitarian Device Exemption (HDE)

Approved

2022

2023

2026

2022

ASD Occluder

PFO Occluder

Atrial Flow Regulator (AFR)

EU
Canada

Japan

USA

China

EU
Canada

USA

EU

USA

3

3

3

Pre-clinical Clinical Regulatory review Approved for market1

1)  The company makes its regulatory forecast, including determining expected dates of filings with, or submissions to, relevant authorities, based on the information currently available to 
the company. The actual timing for any of these regulatory steps may vary and the company may revise any such forecasts as new information becomes available. Market approvals 
for the company’s products in the US are based on the FDA’s regulatory timeline. Timing is based on the company’s current assessment of the regulatory process, however, subject 
to uncertainty regarding the agreement of protocols and approvals due to external effects. 

Approval for clinical 
study received 2027USA
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Clinical development programs

Occlutech supports many of its new product initiatives with scientific 

clinical studies in order to obtain regulatory approval, provide marketing 

data and pave the way for market access and acceptance as well as 

reimbursement. The goal of a clinical trial is to meet the primary endpoint, 

which measures the clinical effectiveness and/or safety of a device and is 

the basis for regulatory approval. Primary endpoints for clinical trials are 

selected based on the intended benefit of the medical device. Although 

clinical trial endpoints are measurements at an individual patient level, the 

results are extrapolated to entire populations of patients based on clinical 

similarities to patients in the clinical trials. The company has a number of 

ongoing and planned studies of which some are described below.

• 16 ongoing clinical trials

•  EUR 10,530 thousand (EUR 10,314 thousand) capitalized and R&D 

expenses

FROST-HF (Flow Regulation by Opening the SepTum in Heart Failure 

patients) – US

FROST-HF is Occlutech’s prospective, multicenter, randomized, sham-con-

trolled, double-blinded, pivotal study that evaluates results of AFR implan-

tation versus sham procedure, in patients with either Heart Failure with 

preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) or Heart Failure with reduced ejection 

fraction (HFrEF). This global FDA Investigational Device Exemption (IDE) 

study will enroll patients with HFrEF or HFpEF who are still symptomatic 

despite standard of care Heart Failure treatment, to evaluate the safety and 

efficacy of the AFR device. Enrollment is expected to commence in 2022.

PRELIEVE (Pilot Study to Assess Safety and Efficacy of a Novel Atrial 

Flow Regulator (AFR) in Heart Failure Patients) – EU

PRELIEVE is Occlutech’s prospective, multicenter, open-label, non-rand-

omized pilot study that evaluates results of AFR implantation in patients 

with either Heart Failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) or Heart 

Failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF). Enrollment of 106 patients 

was completed in February 2021. 

AFteR (Follow-up Study to Monitor the Efficacy and Safety of the 

Occlutech AFR in Heart Failure Patients) – EU

AFteR is Occlutech’s observational prospective study to monitor the safety 

and effectiveness of the Occlutech AFR device in patients with Heart Failure 

for three years following the AFR device implantation. The AFteR study 

will enroll 100 patients with Heart Failure over 18 years-old, for whom 

AFR implantation is indicated and planned, based on a non-probability 

sampling method. As of April 30, 2021, 28 patients were enrolled in the 

study at two centers.

PROPHET (Pilot Study to Assess Safety and Efficacy of a Novel Atrial 

Flow Regulator (AFR) in Patients with Pulmonary Hypertension) – EU

PROPHET is Occlutech’s prospective, non-randomized pilot study to assess 

safety and efficacy of the Occlutech AFR device in patients with severe 

pulmonary hypertension. The study will enroll a maximum of 30 patients 

with severe pulmonary hypertension. Enrollment will be divided into two 

phases. Phase 1: at least 15 adult patients ≥18 years will be enrolled. Phase 

2: patients aged ≥6 years will be enrolled until a maximum of 30 patients 

is achieved. The primary endpoint for the PROPHET study is to evaluate 

the safety and tolerability of the Occlutech AFR device by assessing the 

absence of Serious Adverse Device Effects (SADES) within 3 months after 

implantation, including death, systemic embolism or device embolization. 

Occlutech is currently recruiting patients, and as of April 30, 2022, 17 

patients were enrolled in the study.

ASD China (Study to Compare the Efficacy and Safety of the Occlutech 

Septal Occluder (Figulla Flex II) to the Ceraflex atrial septal defect 

occluder (Lifetech ASD) Secundum Atrial Septal Defects in Patients)

The ASD China trial is Occlutech’s randomized, controlled, multicenter 

trial measuring the efficacy and safety of the Occlutech Septal Occluder 

(Figulla Flex II) in the treatment of secondum atrial septal defect with 

transcatheter closure by comparing with a Ceraflex atrial septal defect 

occluder (Lifetech ASD).

This study will enroll patients with Secundum Atrial Septal Defects, 

to undergo implantation with the Septal Occluders. Enrollment of 180 

patients was completed in June 2021.

OCCLUFLEX (PFO Closure in patients with Cryptogenic Stroke) – US

Occluflex is a prospective, randomized, multi-center, controlled, clinical 

investigation, comparing PFO outcomes of the Occlutech Figulla Flex II 

PFO Occluder to standard-of-care. This global FDA Investigational Device 

Exemption (IDE) study will enroll patients with cryptogenic stroke in the 

presence of a patent foramen ovale (PFO) to either be closed by the Figulla 

Flex II PFO Occluder, or the standard of care AMPLATZER or Gore PFO 

Occluder. The primary endpoint will be PFO Closure at the 12-month fol-

low-up, and the secondary endpoint will be recurrent stroke for the same 

time period. Enrollment expected to commence in 2022. 

Selection of ongoing clinical trials
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RISE Investigator-initiated Trial (IIT) (Safety and efficacy study of Patent 

Foramen Ovale (PFO) closure with Figulla Flex II PFO or Figulla Flex II 

UNI Occluders)

RISE is an investigator-initiated interventional, retrospective, multicenter 

trial to evaluate the short- (up to 6 months) and mid-term (6 months - 5 

years) safety and efficacy results of PFO closure with Occlutech PFO 

and Uni Occluders. The primary objective is to demonstrate the mid-term 

safety and tolerability of Figulla Flex II PFO and UNI Occluders in patients 

who underwent PFO closure with one of the devices by assessing Severe 

Adverse Device Effects (SADEs) within 1 year following implantation. The 

investigator planned to start enrolling patients in the second quarter 2022 

with the target of 600 enrollments. 

PFO-Proof Study (Study to Assess Safety and Efficacy PFO Occluder 

to prevent recurrence of stroke in patients with cryptogenic stroke and 

high risk PFO)

The PFO-Proof Study is Occlutech’s prospective, open-label, multicenter, 

non-randomized investigation on percutaneous patent foramen ovale 

(PFO) closure using the Occlutech PFO Occluder to prevent recurrence 

of strokes in patients with cryptogenic stroke and high risk PFO. Primary 

endpoints of the study are safety (rate of serious adverse device effects 

(SADEs) in the year following implantation of an Occlutech PFO Occluder 

device) and effectiveness (the rate of embolic stroke in the 5 years following 

implantation). Occlutech is currently recruiting patients, and as of April 30, 

2022, 316 patients were enrolled in the study.

PLD Registry (Safety and efficacy in Patients with Mitral or with Aortic 

Paravalvular Leaks)

The PLD Registry is Occlutech’s multicenter, international, follow-up registry 

to monitor the efficacy and safety of the Occlutech Paravalvular Leak Device 

(PLD) in patients with Mitral or with Aortic Paravalvular Leaks. Enrollment 

of 144 patients was completed in May 2021.

PREFER Registry (Safety and efficacy in Patients with Mitral or with 

Aortic Paravalvular Leaks)

The PREFER Registry is Occlutech’s multicenter, international, three-year 

follow-up registry to monitor the efficacy and safety of the Occlutech 

Paravalvular Leak Device (PLD) in patients with Mitral or Aortic Paravalvular 

Leaks. Occlutech planned to start enrollment during the first quarter 2023, 

with the target of 300 patients.

PmVSD Registry (Study to Assess Safety and Efficacy of patients with 

perimembranous ventricular septal defects)

The PmVSD Registry is Occlutech’s multicenter, international, follow-up 

study to monitor the efficacy and safety of the Occlutech Perimembranous 

Ventricular Septal Defect (PmVSD) Occluder in patients with perimem-

branous ventricular septal defects. The primary efficacy endpoints will 

include data obtained one year after PmVSD closure to evaluate successful 

implantation of the device with a proper closure of the PmVSD (defined as 

the reduction in perimembranous ventricular septal shunt to trivial or no 

shunt at all, as assessed by echocardiography pre- vs post-implantation).

Occlutech is currently recruiting patients with the target of 100 patients, 

and as of April 30, 2022, 55 patients were enrolled in the study.

mVSD Registry (Study to Assess Safety and Efficacy of patients with 

muscular ventricular septal defects)

The mVSD Registry is Occlutech’s multicenter, international, follow-up 

registry to monitor the efficacy and safety of the Occlutech Muscular 

Ventricular Septal Defect (mVSD) Occluder in Patients with muscular 

ventricular septal defects. Enrollment of patients is expected to commence 

in the end of 2022, with the target of 50 patients.

PDA Registry (Study to Assess Safety and Efficacy of patients with 

Patent Ductus Arteriosus defects)

This PDA registry is Occlutech’s multicenter, international, follow-up registry 

to evaluate the efficacy and safety of the Occlutech Patent Ductus Arterio-

sus Occluder (PDA Occluder) in participants with Patent Ductus Arteriosus 

defects. Occlutech is currently recruiting patients, and as of April 30, 2022, 

18 patients were enrolled in the study, with the target of 100 patients.

ACCESS Registry (Study to Assess Safety Performance and Usability 

of Occlutech Accessory medical devices)

The ACCESS Registry is Occlutech’s multicenter, international, post mar-

ket follow-up study to monitor the safety, performance and usability of 

Occlutech accessories Occlutech Delivery Set (ODS), Occlutech Pistol 

Pusher (OPP), Occlutech Occlusions-Pusher (OOP), Occlutech Sizing Bal-

loon (OSB) used for implantation procedures of cardiac implant devices. 

Occlutech is currently recruiting patients, and as of April 30, 2022, 50 

patients were enrolled in the study, with the target of 800 patients.

Visit occlutech.com for more information about Occlutech’s products 

and clinical trials.
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SUSTAINABILITY 

Responsible value creation

Occlutech operates in medical technology, a highly regulated 
environment that places high demands on products, organization 
and operations. The company has great respect for responsible 
value creation and good quality is a prerequisite and a healthy 
work environment for employees and relationship with suppliers 
and distributors are conducted with high ethical standards. 

In 2021, Occlutech became a signatory member of the UN 
Global Compact and will support Agenda 2030. The Agenda 2030 
consists of 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) aimed at 
eradicating poverty, halting climate change and creating peaceful, 
safe societies. Occlutech has identified two sustainability goals 
that are essential to the business and where Occlutech has a 
great opportunity of having an influence. These two goals are 
Good Health and Well-being (SDG 3) and Diversity (SDG 5). The 
Company is continuing to develop this work and in 2022 the Com-
pany intends to conduct a stakeholder dialogue and materiality 
analysis to further develop the Company’s sustainability strategy 
and targets. 

Occlutech works continuously to maintain a good balance in 
terms of age, gender and ethnicity, thereby creating an innovative 
and dynamic culture and working environment. The company’s 
activities have given results and Occlutech has an even gender 
distribution both in terms of employees and managers within the 
company, something that also characterizes the composition of 
the board.

Governance and responsibility 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the Company 
and therefore has ultimate responsibility for the sustainability work 
of the business. In 2021 the Board, adopted codes and policy 
documents including diversity, environmental issues, anti-cor-
ruption and respect for human rights, as well as adopting a Code 
of Conduct that applies to all employees at the Company and a 
Supplier Code of Conduct that applies to suppliers. The CEO is 
responsible for executing the Board’s decisions.

Occlutech’s main sustainability target is to improve quality of life for people with heart conditions. To 
further contribute to society, Occlutech became a signatory member of the UN Global Compact cor-
porate responsibility initiatives in 2021 and thereby committed to its principles in the areas of human 
and labor rights, the environment and anti-corruption and the company will contribute to Agenda 2030 
and its Sustainable Development Goals (SDG). 

CEO EmployeesLine ManagersChair of the board Board of Directors

Female

56%
Female Female

Female

50%
Female

50%
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Occlutech’s Code of Conduct describes the basis for how employ-
ees should act, both in contact with external stakeholders such 
as customers and hospital employees, as well as internally in 
relation to other employees. All employees must read the Code 
of Conduct annually and confirm that they have understood the 
contents. The Code of Conduct is continuously evaluated and is 
adopted annually by Occlutech’s Board of Directors. There is an 
external whistleblowing function that employees and suppliers 
can use to report suspected violations of the Code of Conduct or 
Supplier Code of Conduct. In order to ensure independence and 
anonymity, Occlutech has chosen that all reporting and investi-
gation through the whistleblowing function will be handled by 
an external party. During 2021, no incidents were reported in the 
whistleblower function.

Quality
Occlutech works with medical technology, where good quality is a 
prerequisite for safe and effective products. The company works 
in the long-term with quality issues.

•  We strive to comply with international standards and regulations 
for medical devices.

•  We regularly carry out inspections of contracted manufactures 
and other subcontractors.

•  We are regularly inspected by accredited bodies and competent 
authorities that certify our business.

•  Our quality system is certified according to ISO 13485, MDR, 
MDSAP.

Animal testing
As part of research and development in the medical device indus-
try, it is sometimes necessary and demanded by the authorities 
to conduct animal testing before devices can be implanted in 
humans. Occlutech takes animal welfare very seriously and if 
animal studies are deemed necessary, the company strives to be 
as painless as possible and involve as few animals as possible.

Environment
Occlutech works actively to reduce the Company’s environmental 
impact. This applies to everything from small aspects of daily 
work, such as sorting waste, to long-term work with manufacturing 
and transport. The Company continously identify areas with the 
greatest environmental impact to be able to target improvements 
where they are most needed.  

Serving our communities
Occlutech’s sponsorship includes organizations such as Chain of 
Hope, Healing Little Hearts and Save A Child’s Hearth. 

Ensure healthy lives 
and promote well- 
being for all at all ages.

Achieve gender 
equality and empower 
all women and girls.
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SUSTAINABILITY

Equal opportunity  
employeer

Why did you choose a career in science?
Tina: For as long as I can remember, I’ve always been a ques-
tion-asker, specifically “how” and “why?” This probably frustrated 
my family members and teachers, but as I began my higher edu-
cation and career, I learned these questions were setting me on a 
path to pursue science. This looked different for me at first than 
it does now (including time spent in marine biology and patient 
care). While pursuing my degree, I found computer science, and 
everything started to make sense. This was a new way for me to 
apply my logical and critical thinking skills that could serve many 
people and industries.

For the past 25 years, my career has focused on bringing 
life-saving devices to market through clinical research. This path 
has harnessed my passions and abilities to serve a larger com-
munity in a way that I could never have imagined as a young 
question-asker.

Ayca: Since my childhood, I have been interested in science and 
biology. It all started with a gift of a microscope from my par-
ents when I was in primary school. I was collecting samples at 
home to examine using it because I was very excited to explore. 
Then my uncle started to bring me science magazines and so 
the journey started. It began during my high school, especially in 

biology classes, I realized that I am interested in genetics. As a 
result, I completed my bachelor’s degree in genetic engineering 
and master’s degree in molecular biology of the cell. I am grateful 
for my family and glad to have a career in science.

What does gender equality look like to you and how do 
you see it in the scientific community?
Tina: I know gender equality is in place when women are trusted 
for their expertise without qualification and given the opportunity 
to lead. Because I’ve been able to grow my career in science, I hope 
to share my experiences with those around me, so they can con-
tinue their own advancement without the worry of discrimination.
Early in my career, being a woman in the scientific community 
was often discounted; the perception was that the attention of 
women was divided between work and home. In reality, what 
better way is there for leadership, drive, and dedication to grow? 
Regardless of gender, I believe having balance between work and 
home makes us better at our jobs and provides opportunities to 
bring our talents and passions to the workplace.

Ayca: I have always believed that gender equality is a basic and 
crucial human right. The scientific community was one of those 
places where we could not find gender equality in the past. Even 

Occlutech is an equal opportunity employer with a high level of women in different roles at the  
organization. Tina Holupchinski, (B.S. Computer Science), Director of Data Management and Ayca 
Atay (MSc., MBA), Regulatory Affairs Manager at Occlutech, share their personal experience of gender 
equality in science.

Tina Holupchinski, 
Director of Data 
Management

Ayca Atay  
Regulatory Affairs 
Manager 
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if there were a large number of females in the scientific commu-
nity, we mostly heard the names and success stories of men 
in many fields. This was caused by the under-representation of 
women in science due to several stereotypes. However, after 
various developments in science such as Marie Curie winning 
two Nobel Prizes in physics and chemistry, or Jennifer Doudna 
and Emmanuelle Charpentier winning the Nobel Prize in chemistry 
for genome-editing, were breaking points in my opinion. The old 
stereotypes are breaking thanks to such success stories of women 
in science and the situation is improving day-by-day.

Is there gender equality in your field?
Tina: While the situation is improving, the realistic answer is 
that we are still working toward equality in the wider scientific 
community. I have had past experiences where it was clear that 
women and their contributions were not valued equally; I believe 
that is to the detriment of those companies and they will not be 
successful long-term because of it.

One of the many reasons I chose to work at Occlutech was 
because of their dedication to gender equality I could see in their 
leadership structure and initiatives. I have seen this in my own 
leader’s dedication to, and promotion of, equality.

The best steps forward are for each of us to make decisions that 
promote equality in our work and personal lives. When we can align 
with a company that has these values it gives us the confidence 
that the world is moving in the right direction. 

Ayca: Unfortunately, there is no gender equality in the sector; 
however, it is improving. Luckily, I have not felt this gender inequal-
ity at Occlutech over the three years I have been working here. I 
appreciate that we are creating and building a culture by paying 
greater attention to gender equality at our company. To reinforce 
this culture both in company and in life, I do my best to support 
female colleagues, female scientists whenever I hear about their 
achievements, because we all - either men or women - need to 
support women to overcome this gender inequality. The main 
goal is to support scientific studies regardless of gender for the 
benefit of humanity. Likewise, our perspective at Occlutech is to 
focus on teamwork and support success. This way, regardless 
of gender, people can have a vision and build a successful career. 
Hopefully in time, the “gender” concept will be eliminated com-
pletely. In the meantime, we need to encourage girls and women 
to get into the fields of science and amplify their names, voices, 
and achievements.
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Corporate Governance

Occlutech Holding AG (“Occlutech” or the “Company”) is a Swiss limited liability incorporated in Canton Schaffhausen 
and formed and registered with the official Companies Register of the Canton of Schaffhausen, Switzerland on Decem-
ber 12, 2000, under the registration number CHE-101.329.851. The Company’s LEI code is 506700J4B7X08Z441476 
and the registered office is in Schaffhausen. The Company’s registered commercial name is Occlutech Holding AG. 
Governance of Occlutech is based on the Company’s registered Articles of Association, applicable Swiss and foreign 
corporate laws and regulations, and the Company’s internal rules and guidelines. The governance and supervision 
of Occlutech’s activities are distributed between the parent company Occlutech Holding AG and a group consisting 
of eleven wholly owned subsidiaries as per December 31, 2021. 

The illustration below describes how corporate governance  
is organized. Occlutech is a Swiss stock corporation (Aktien- 
gesellschaft) whose shareholders ultimately decide on the Com-
pany’s governance by electing the Company’s board of directors 

at the Annual General Meeting. The Board, in turn, has continu-
ing responsibility for ensuring that corporate governance of the 
Company is in the compliance with laws and other external and 
internal rules and regulations.

Shareholders

Board of Directors

Nomination Committee

Risk & Audit CommitteeOrganizational Regulations

Articles of Association

Code of Conduct, Supplier Code of 
Conduct. Policies on Anti-Corruption, 

Dividend, Integrity, Remuneration,  
Risk, Treasury, Whistleblower.  

Authorization Manual

Accounting Manual, Group  
Insurance Policy, Quality Policy,  

IT Policy etc.

Functional delegation

CEO

Executive Management

Functional approval authority

Signing authority

Board of Directors subsidiaries

Managing directors subsidiaries

Proxy & Formal delegations
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Shareholders
Occlutech had 75 shareholders as of December 31, 2021, whereof 
the holdings from the ten largest shareholders amounted to 
82.55 percent. The fully paid-in share capital of the Company 
amounted to CHF 6,614,083.60 and is divided into 66,140,836 
registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.10 each. Each 
share registered in the share register with voting rights grants 
entitlement to one vote in the Company’s shareholders’ meeting. 
In December 2021, Occlutech completed a private placement of 
shares of SEK 450 million before transaction costs to the Fourth 
Swedish National Pension Fund, Carnegie Private Banking and 
several other investors. A total of 12,676,056 shares were issued 
with a nominal value of CHF 1,267,606. 

Shareholders No. of shares Ownership,%

Tor Peters 23,699,896 35.85
Carnegie Private Banking 8,565,875 12.95
Fourth Swedish National Pension Fund 6,338,028 9.58
Mert Aygen 3,758,470 5.68
Fumedica Intertrade AG 2,903,760 4.39
RoosGruppen AB 2,719,996 4.11
Japan Lifeline Co Ltd 2,324,900 3.52
Hans-Reiner Figulla 1,748,110 2.64
White Mill AG 1,569,224 2.37
Little Rock Business Corporation 973,590 1.47

Top 10 largest shareholders 54,601,849 82.55
Others 11,538,987 17.45

Total 66,140,836 100

General meetings of shareholders
Under Swiss law (and Article 3 of the Company’s articles of asso-
ciation), the general meeting of shareholders is the Company’s 
supreme body. Under Swiss law, an Annual General Meeting of 
shareholders must be held within six months after the end of a 
company’s preceding financial year. In the case of the Company, 
this means an Annual General Meeting of shareholders must be 
held on June 30 the latest of each year following the respective 
financial year. 

Notices to shareholder meetings
According to Article 3.1 of the articles of association, the general 
meeting of shareholders shall be called by the Board of Directors 
or, if necessary, by the auditors or the liquidators. In accordance 
with Swiss corporate law and the Company’s articles of associa-
tion, the Board of Directors is required to convene an extraordinary 
general meeting of shareholders if so resolved by a shareholders’ 
meeting or, pursuant to Article 3.1 of the articles of association, 
in case one or more shareholders that together represent at least 
ten percent of the share capital, request the Board of Directors to 
do so by written notice stating the items and the motions. In such 
case, the extraordinary general meeting shall be called within four 
weeks as of the receipt of the respective request. 

The general meeting of shareholders takes place at the registered 
office of the Company or at another place to be determined by 
the convening corporate body and shall be called at least twenty 
days prior to the day of the meeting. The invitation must state the 
agenda items as well as the motions of the Board of Directors and 
of the shareholders who have requested to have a general meeting 
of shareholders or the inclusion of an item on the agenda. The 
Annual and Sustainability Report and the Audit Report must be 
submitted for examination by the shareholders at the registered 
office of the Company at least twenty days prior to the date of 
the ordinary Annual General Meeting of shareholders. Reference 
to such submission and to the shareholders’ right to request the 
conveying of these documents to them shall be included in the invi-
tation to the general meeting of shareholders. No resolutions may 
be passed on agenda items which have not been duly announced, 
apart from shareholder motions for the calling of an extraordinary 
general meeting of shareholders or the initiation of a special audit 
and the appointment of auditors. Shareholders or their proxies, 
representing the total issued share capital, may, if no objection is 
raised, hold a general meeting of shareholders without observing 
the formalities laid down for calling such a meeting, a so-called 
“universal general meeting of shareholders”. As long as the owners 
or proxies of all the shares are present, all items falling within the 
scope of business of the general meeting of shareholders may be 
validly discussed and decided upon at such meeting. 

Right to attend general meetings
Each shareholder is entitled to attend and represent their shares 
at the general meeting of shareholders. Further, each shareholder 
may be represented at the general meeting of shareholders by any 
other shareholder or third person who is authorized by a written 
power of attorney. 

Share issues, change in share capital etc.
Share issuances may either be resolved by a general meeting 
or by the Board of Directors. Neither Swiss legislation nor the 
Company’s articles of association restrict the Company’s power 
to obtain funding. The decision to borrow funds is made by or 
under direction of the Board of Directors, with no shareholders’ 
resolution being required. 

Dividends
Resolutions on dividends are resolved at a general meeting. Div-
idends may be paid in any currency or any way in kind. However, 
the general meeting may not declare a dividend higher than that 
recommended by the Board of Directors. The Board of Occlutech 
does not intend to propose any dividends to shareholders until the 
Company generates long-term sustainable profitability. Any future 
dividend and the size thereof will be based on the Company’s 
long-term growth, earnings performance and capital needs, taking 
into account current objectives and strategies. The Board intends 
to propose to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend to be 
paid for 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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General meetings 2021

Extraordinary General Meeting April 12, 2021
An Extraordinary General Meeting was held on April 12, 2021. 
Christian Risch was elected to serve as Chair for the Extraordinary 
General Meeting. The Extraordinary General Meeting resolved 
the following:
•  to elect Marianne Dicander Alexandersson, Helena Levander, 

Mette-Marie Sonne Harild and Michel Lussier as new members 
of the Board of Directors. 

•  to release Christian Risch, Reto Garzetti and Toru Takamiya 
from liability for their services rendered up to their resignation 
on April 12, 2021.

•  to elect Deloitte AG in Zürich as the new auditor. 

Annual General Meeting 2021
The Annual General Meeting for the 2020 financial year was held 
on June 30, 2021. Dr. Yves Mauchle was elected to serve as Chair 
for the Annual General Meeting. The Annual General Meeting 
resolved the following:

•  to approve the minutes of the last 20th Annual General Meeting 
of September 10, 2020.

•  to approve the Financial Statements 2020 of the Company.

•  to release the members of the Board of Directors and the exec-
utive committee from the liability for their activities during the 
short business year July 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020.

•  to re-elect (i) Marianne Dicander Alexandersson as Chairperson 
of the Board of Directors, and (ii) Mette-Marie Sonne Harild, 
Helena Levander, Michel Lussier, Urs Christen and Tor Peters 
as members of the Board of Directors of the Company until the 
next Annual General Meeting.

•  to re-elect Deloitte AG in Zürich as the statutory auditor for a 
term of one financial year.

•  to elect Markus Schmuki, AMG Attorneys at Law, St. Gallen, 
Switzerland, as independent proxy until the next Annual General 
Meeting.

•  to subject to articles of association to a general revision, subject 
the other resolutions of the Annual General Meeting. 

•  to implement a share split and therefore to implement the fol-
lowing: (i) the nominal value of the shares in the Company shall 
be split by 10, i.e. 5,346,478 registered shares with a nominal 
value of CHF 1.00 each shall be split at the ratio of 1 to 10 into 
53,464,780 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.10 
each, (ii) each shareholder shall receive for one share with a nom-
inal value of CHF 1.00 each, 10 (ten) shares with a nominal value 
of CHF 0.10 each. Consequently, each shareholder’s shareholding 
will be equal respective the shareholder’s current participation 
in the aggregate nominal share capital of the Company; and (iii) 
to amend the articles of association accordingly. 

•  to adjust the existing authorized share capital of the Company 
and to create a new authorized share capital with a maximum 
nominal value of CHF 1,867,833.00 by issuing a maximum of 
18,678,330 fully paid registered shares with a nominal value 
of CHF 0.10 each, and to amend the articles of association 
accordingly. 

•  to adjust the existing authorized share capital (over-allotment 
option) of the Company and to create a new authorized share 
capital with a maximum nominal value of CHF 800,500.00 by 
issuing a maximum of 8,005,000 fully paid registered shares with 
a nominal value of CHF 0.10 each, and to amend the articles of 
association accordingly. 

•  to adjust the existing conditional share capital of the Company 
and to create a new conditional share capital with a maximum 
nominal value of CHF 2,668,333.40, divided into 13,341,667 fully 
paid registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.10 each 
for employee participation and 13,341,667 fully paid registered 
shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.10 each for financing, 
acquisition and other purposes, and to amend the articles of 
association accordingly. 

•  to elect Marianne Dicander Alexandersson as chair, and 
Mette-Marie Harild and Tor Peters as members of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee for the term of one financial year, 
until the next Annual General Meeting. 

•  to approve the maximum remuneration of the members of the 
Board of Directors of EUR 400’000.00 for the period until the 
next ordinary shareholders’ meeting. 

•  to approve the maximum remuneration for the compensation of 
the persons whom the Board of Directors has entrusted with the 
executive management of the Company of (i) EUR 600,000.00 for 
the period starting as of July 1, 2021 and ending as on December 
31, 2021 (i.e., the remainder of the current financial year); and 
(ii) EUR 1,200,000.00 for the financial year 2022.

Extraordinary General Meeting September 10, 2021
An Extraordinary General Meeting was held on September 10, 
2021. Dr. Yves Mauchle was elected to serve as Chair for the 
Extraordinary General Meeting. The Extraordinary General Meeting 
resolved the following:

•  to approve the minutes of the last extraordinary shareholders’ 
meeting, held on April 12, 2021

•  to approve the minutes of all shareholders’ meetings of the 
Company held between 2005 and 2020 financial statements 
of the Company. 

•  to approve the financial statements of Occlutech Holding AG 
for the financial years 2018, 2019 and 2020, filed in accordance 
with the IFRS. 

•  to increase the share capital by means of an ordinary capital 
increase in the minimum amount of CHF 500,000 and a maxi-
mum of CHF 2,668,333.50 from currently CHF 5,346,478.00 to 
newly CHF to a new minimum of CHF 5,846,478 and a maximum 
of CHF 8,014,811.50. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Annual General Meeting 2022
Occlutech’s Annual General Meeting for the 2021 financial year 
will be held on May 31, 2022. The Board of Directors intends to 
propose to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend to be 
paid for 2021.

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is entrusted with the headship of the Com-
pany as well as the supervision of the management. The Board 
of Directors represents the Company towards third parties and 
attends to all matters which are not allocated to another corporate 
body of the Company by law, the articles of association or the 
regulations. The members of the Board of Directors are elected 
by the general meeting of shareholders. Article 4.1 of the articles 
of association stipulates that the Board of Directors shall consist 
of at least three members of which the majority is independent. 

In accordance with Article 4.2 of the articles of association, to 
the extent permitted by law, the Board of Directors can, according 
to organizational regulations, delegate the management of the 
Company or part thereof and the representation of the Company 
to individual members of the Board of Directors or to third parties 
who need not be shareholders. The Board of Directors has in 
particular the following non-delegable and inalienable duties: 

•  ultimate management of the Company and the giving of nec-
essary directives; 

•  establishment of the organization; 

•  structuring of the accounting system and of the financial controls 
as well as the financial planning insofar as this is necessary to 
manage the Company: 

•  appointment and removal of the persons entrusted with the man-
agement and representation and granting of signatory power; and 

•  ultimate supervision of the persons entrusted with the manage-
ment, in particular in view of compliance with the law, the articles 
of association, regulations and directives;

•  preparation of the financial reports as well as preparation of 
the general meeting of shareholders, and the implementing of 
its resolutions; 

•  notification to the court in the case of over indebtedness; 

•  passing of resolutions regarding the subsequent payment of 
capital with respect to non-fully paid-in shares: and

•  passing of resolutions confirming increases in share capital 
and regarding the amendments to the articles of association 
entailed thereby. 

Occlutech’s Board of Directors consists of six members, including 
the chair of the board. The members of the Board of Directors 
shall be elected by the General Meeting of Shareholders, with 
the term of office lasting until the end of the next Annual General 
Meeting. The CEO reports on an ongoing basis to the chairperson 
and regularly to the Board of Directors.

Nomination Committee and Remuneration 
Committee 
In line with Swiss corporate law the Company shall have a Nom-
ination Committee and a Remuneration Committee, the purpose 
of which is to submit proposals to the shareholders in respect of 
the election of the chairman at general meetings, board members, 
including who should be chairman, remuneration to each board 
member as well as remuneration for committee work, election of 
and remuneration to the external auditors, and a proposal regard-
ing changes to the instructions for the duties of the Nomination 
Committee.

Risk and Audit Committee 
The Board of Directors has established an internal control system 
which is monitored as to its functional capability by the Risk and 
Audit committee. The Risk and Audit committee is responsible 
for critically analyzing the financial statements of the Group and 
the Company and to discuss those with the CFO and the external 
auditors. Further control activities have been delegated to the Risk 
and Audit committee. The CEO and the Executive Management is 
supervised by the Board of Directors and its committees in their 
respective fields. 

The Board of Directors decided on June 30, 2021 to establish 
a Risk and Audit Committee and to elect Helena Levander as 
Chair of the Committee and Marianne Dicander Alexandersson 
as member of the committee.
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The Board had eleven meetings in 2021,  
whereof the main activities related to: 

•  Business plan

•  Recruitment of senior executives

•  Investments in US activities

•  Implementation of SAP-system

•  IPO preparedness, (adoption of steering  
instructions and policies and Codes including 
sustainability matters) 

•  Financing activities

•  Financial reports

•  Internal control activities

Highlights of the Board’s work 2021
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   Independent
   in realation to Independent Attendance
   the company in relation to and
   and senior the largest number of Attendance, number of Remuneration,
Name Position Elected, year execetives shareholders meetings meetings,committee 2021, (EUR 000)

Marianne Dicander  Chairperson From April 12, 2021 Yes Yes 10(11) 8(8) Risk and
Alexandersson       Audit Committee
       1(1) Nomination and 
       Remuneration Committee 56

Urs Christen Member of the Board 2020 No Yes 10(11)  22

Mette-Marie Member of the Board From April 12, 2021 Yes Yes 10(11) 1(1) Nomination and  
Sonne Harild       Remuneration Committee 24

Helena Levander Member of the Board From April 12, 2021 Yes Yes 10(11) 8(8) Risk and
       Audit Committee 37

Michel E. Lussier Member of the Board From April 12, 2021 Yes Yes 10(11)   37

Tor Peters Member of the Board 2009 Yes No 10(11) 1(1) Nomination and 
       Remuneration Committee –

Christian Risch Chairperson Resigned April 12, 2021 No Yes 1(11) na –

Reto Garzetti Member of the Board Resigned April 12, 2021 No Yes 1(11) na –

Toru Takamiya Member of the Board Resigned April 12, 2021 No Yes 1(11) na –

   

CEO and Executive Management
The CEO is appointed by the Board and is responsible for the day-
to-day control of the Company. The CEO together with Executive 
Management is responsible for implementing the Company’s 
strategy, business control and the allocation of resources within 
the Company. The allocation of duties and responsibilities within 
and between the Board and the management team are set out 
in the Organizational Regulations drawn up by the Board and 
the governing policies framework, see illustration page 28. In 
2021 several new codes and policies have been adopted and 
implemented in the company, such as Code of Conduct, Supplier 
Code of Conduct, Risk policy, Treasury policy, Whistleblower policy 
and Authorization manual. The Regulations and the Instructions 
are reviewed and reconfirmed or amended by the Board at least 
once per year. 

During 2021, the company’s Executive Management has been 
expanded with several new members with specialist expertise 
and international experience. The Executive Management Team 
consisted at year-end of CEO Sabine Bois, Peter Alfvegren 
(interim CIO), Oshri Budana (Global Head of Operations), Anders 
Clemensson (VP Supply Chain), Frank Dallmann (VP Research & 
Development), Jannie Hestehave (VP People & Culture), Stefan 
Kleidon (VP Sales & Marketing) and Lars Wadell (CFO). In April 
2022, Thomas Okke Frahm joined the Management Team as new 
Head of IT. For more information about the Executive Manage-
ment, see pages 38–39.
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Board composition and directors’ independence 
The Board of Directors is currently composed of six directors, all of which were re-elected, respectively, at the Annual General Meeting 
on June 30, 2021 for terms until the end of the 2022 Annual General Meeting. The table below presents Occlutech’s board members 
during 2021 and attendance to board meetings.
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Guidelines for remuneration to the Board of 
Directors and Executive Management
The members of the Board of Directors, the Executive Manage-
ment are entitled to remuneration commensurate with their 
activities. The remuneration may be paid by the Company or by 
a subsidiary provided it is covered by the maximum total remu-
neration approved by the shareholders. The remuneration of the 
members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management 
shall be reasonable, competitive, and performance-oriented and 
shall be consistent with the strategic objectives and performance 
of the Group. Furthermore, the members of the Board of Directors 
are paid a fixed remuneration and other applicable elements of 
remuneration that are not dependent on performance. The Com-
pany may pay to the members of the Board of Directors a perfor-
mance-related compensation. Remuneration of the members of 
the Executive Management consists of a fixed compensation and 
may be complemented by a performance component. 

The amount of the performance remuneration paid to the 
members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management 
depends on the qualitative and quantitative targets and param-
eters defined by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors 
defines and assesses the targets and their achievement or dele-
gates this task to the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 
The competence to determine the qualitative and quantitative 
targets and parameters is set out in the Company’s Organizational 
Regulations. The fixed compensation and any performance remu-
neration may be paid in cash or by allocating equity instruments, 
conversion or option rights or other rights to equity instruments.

The details of the performance-related compensation of the 
members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management 
shall be set forth by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors 
determines the respective amounts of remuneration within the 
respective remuneration framework approved by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders upon proposal of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee.

Agreements related to compensation 
Pursuant to article 4.8 of the articles of association, fixed-term 
employment and mandate agreements stipulating the remuner-
ation of members of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management shall not exceed a term of one year. The notice 
period for open-ended employment and mandate agreements with 
members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management 
shall not exceed six months. 

Audit
Deloitte AG, Zürich, Switzerland, an audit firm recognized and 
supervised by the Swiss Federal Audit Oversight Authority (FAOA) 
is the statutory Group’s auditor since the Extraordinary Share-
holder Meeting April 12, 2021. Additionally, Deloitte AG was the 
independent auditor of the consolidated IFRS financial statements 
2018-2020. Matthias Gschwend is the responsible lead auditor 
and is a certified public accountant. 

Pursuant to Article 5 of the articles of association, the auditors, 
who shall be elected by the general meeting of shareholders each 
year, shall have the powers and duties vested in them by law. 
The auditors are appointed for one year. The term shall expire on 
the date on which the auditors are required to present the final 
audit report to the Annual General Meeting. The auditors may be 
re-elected. It is the duty of the auditors to verify (1) that the annual 
accounts and, where applicable consolidated financial statements, 
comply with the legal provisions, the articles of association and 
the standard chosen for financial reporting; (2) the proposal of 
the Board of Directors to the general meeting on the distribution 
of balance sheet is in accordance with the law and the articles 
of association; (3) internal control. The auditors must prepare a 
written report for the general meeting of shareholders concerning 
the annual accounts and annual report. If the auditors discover 
violations of the law or the articles of association during their 
audit, they must report this in writing to the Board of Directors and, 
in important cases, to the general meeting of shareholders. The 
auditors are subject to the duty of confidentiality except in respect 
of the members of the Board of Directors and the other auditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Report on risk management 
and internal control over  
financial reporting
The Board of Directors’ report on risk management and internal control over financial reporting consti-
tutes an integral part of the Corporate Governance Report. The external financial reporting has been 
prepared in accordance with laws and regulations and applicable accounting standards, namely the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Occlutech’s work on risk management and internal 
control over financial reporting is based on the integrated framework established by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The COSO framework is based on 
17 fundamental principles linked to five components: control environment, risk assessment, control 
activities, information and communication, as well as monitoring.

The overall purpose of internal control is to ensure, to a reasonable 
extent, that the Company’s operating strategies and targets are 
monitored, and that the shareholders’ investment is protected. 
Furthermore, internal control is to ensure that external financial 
reporting is, to a reasonable extent, reliable and prepared in accord-
ance with generally accepted accounting principles, compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations. 

There is no unit in the Company for internal auditing. The Board 
of Directors evaluates the need for this unit annually and has made 
the assessment that, considering the size of the Company, there 
is not sufficient need to introduce a formal internal audit unit. 

Control environment 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for internal control 
in relation to the financial reporting. In order to establish and main-
tain a functioning control environment, the Board of Directors has 
adopted several policies and regulatory documents that govern 
the financial reporting. Occlutech has adopted an authorization 
policy. In addition, the Company is developing a financial manual 
that will contain the principles, guidelines and process descriptions 
for bookkeeping, accounting and financial reporting. The Company 
has also summarized its key procedures for internal control in a 
separate internal control policy. Finally, the Board of Directors 
has established an Risk and Audit Committee whose primary 
task is to monitor the Company’s financial position, monitor the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control, internal audit 
and risk management, keep itself informed about the audit of the 

Annual Report with accompanying financial statements including 
consolidated financial statements, and review and monitor the 
auditor’s impartiality and independence. The responsibility for the 
day-to-day work with financial control has been delegated to the 
Company’s CEO, who in turn has delegated this responsibility to 
the Company’s CFO, who has overall responsibility for maintaining 
sound internal control over the financial reporting environment. 
The CEO regularly reports to the Board of Directors in accordance 
with the established instruction for the CEO and the instruction 
for financial reporting. 

Risk assessment 
The Board has established a risk policy to describe in greater detail 
the view regarding identification, assessment and management 
of risks that the company are subjected to. The purpose of the 
policy is to describe the risk management of Occlutech. The aim 
is to ensure that the risk management is efficient and effective 
and that all essential risks are identified, assessed, managed and 
monitored. The aim of the policy is also to ensure that Company 
meets the expectations of customers and external stakeholders 
regarding risk management by following a sound risk manage-
ment process throughout the organization. The policy define the 
concept of a risk, describe the different types of risks that the 
Company are subjected to and define how the process of effec-
tive risk management should be exercised. The risk assessment 
includes identifying risks that may arise if the basic requirements 
for financial reporting in the Company are not fulfilled. In a special 

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
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risk assessment document, Occlutech’s management team has 
identified and evaluated the risks that arise in the Company’s 
business operations and assessed how these risks can be properly 
managed. Within the Board of Directors, the Risk and Audit Com-
mittee has primary responsibility for continuously assessing the 
Company’s risk situation, after which the Board of Directors also 
conducts an annual review of the risk situation. During the year, 
senior management has reviewed the risks related to strategies, 
compliance, and financial and operational issues. Afterwards, 
these risks were assessed according to probability and effect, 
where risks with either a high degree of probability or potential 
impact have been prioritized. This has subsequently been pre-
sented to the Risk and Audit Committee before being reviewed by 
the Board of Directors. The Company has assigned each risk factor 
to at least one person in Group management for them to lead the 
efforts in developing and executing plans for courses of action. 

Control activities 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR) policy is adopted 
to ensure that corporate records are not intentionally or unin-
tentionally misstated. ICFR adds value through clarified control 
environment, improved monitory activities, increased risk aware-
ness and improved decision support trough providing assurance 
on the reliability of the financial statements to the stakeholders. 
The purpose of the policy is to describe the Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting (“ICRF”) framework of Occlutech Group. 

• Define the scope of the ICFR. 

• Define the roles and responsibilities within ICFR. 

• Define the ICFR processes.

• Determine the procedure to accurately implement ICFR. 

• Define the reporting structure and frequency.

In order to prevent, detect and correct mistakes and deviations, a 
framework for key controls in relation to policies, processes and 
procedures has been established within Occlutech in relation 
to control objectives. The control activities help to ensure that 
the requisite measures are taken to identify and address risks 
consistent with achieving the Company’s objectives. Examples of 
control activities at an overall level are that Occlutech has a clear 
governance structure and division of responsibilities with several 
forums and activities which continuously monitor the business 
operations. Well-defined business processes, separation of duties, 
and appropriate delegation of authority are also activities that 

promote good corporate governance and internal control and 
that are under implementation. 

Key processes are mapped and described as part of the SAP 
project. The detailed process steps and corresponding instructions 
will be part of the financial manual including segregation of duties 
as well as automatic and manual key controls. 

During 2021 the company implemented a global functional 
organization including a global finance function to align process 
and implement ICFR controls. IT controls have also been identified 
and documented but not yet fully implemented. The improvement 
areas identified by the auditors combined with implementation of 
SAP serves as input to action plans in 2022 to address compliance 
within ICFR. The company will in 2022 further adopt its processes 
to ensure compliance with established Corporate Governance 
and ICFR Framework.

Information and communication 
Occlutech has information and communication established for 
the intention to promote the accuracy of financial reporting, and 
to facilitate reporting and feedback from the business operations 
to the Board of Directors and senior management, for example by 
making corporate governance documents such as internal poli-
cies, guidelines and instructions regarding the financial reporting 
known and accessible to the employees affected. The Board of 
Directors has also adopted an information policy that regulates 
the Company’s external disclosure. 

Monitoring 
The design and implementation of the internal controls are 
continually monitored via the audit process and the process for 
internal monitoring is in progress but not yet fully implemented. 
The CFO is responsible for ensuring that appropriate processes 
for monitoring are in place, and the CEO ensures that the Board 
of Directors continuously receives reports on the developments 
concerning of the Company’s business activities, including the 
developments with the Company’s profits or losses and financial 
position, as well as information on significant events, such as 
research results and important contracts. The CEO also makes 
a report concerning these matters at each Board of Directors 
meeting. The Company’s compliance with relevant policies and 
guidelines shall be evaluated annually and a report is to be made 
to the Risk and Audit Committee annually by the CFO. A summary 
of identified proposals for improvements shall then be presented 
to the Board of Directors. 

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
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Board of Directors

Marianne Dicander Alexandersson
Chair of the Board since 2021.  
Chairperson of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee. Member  
of the Risk and Audit Committee.

Born 1959.

Education
MSc. Chemical engineering, Chalmers Uni-
versity of Technology, Gothenburg, Sweden 
complemented with business studies. 

Background
Swedish national with a broad business 
and leadership experience. Many years 
of experience in the life science industry 
and from board work, including as CEO of 
Kronans Droghandel, Global Health Partner 
and the Sixth AP Fund, deputy CEO of 
Apoteket AB, and positions within quality 
and market development at Pharmacia, 
Imperial Chemical Industries and Volvo. 

Other current positions
Chairman of the Board of Saminvest 
AB, Sahlgrenska Science Park AB, Board 
member of Linc AB (publ), Promore Pharma 
AB (publ) and Oblique AB. 

Prior positions (past five years)
Board member of AdderaCare AB (publ), 
Enzymatica AB (publ), Camurus AB (publ), 
Praktikertjänst Aktiebolag and Recipharm 
AB (publ). Chair of the Royal Swedish 
Academy of Engineering Sciences (IVA 
Väst) Member of the Advisory Council of 
the Dental and Pharmaceutical Agency, TLV. 

Holdings in the Company (incl. related parties)
54,399 shares and no share options. 

Independent in relation to the Company and 
its management and the Company’s major 
shareholders.

Urs Christen
Member of the Board since 2020.

Born 1953.

Education
Laboratory chemist. 

Background
A Swiss national and is the founder, owner 
and CEO of the medical trading company 
Fumedica, which focuses on Interventional 
Cardiology, Structural Heart, Heart Surgery 
& General Surgery and has activities in 
Germany and Switzerland. Extensive 
experience as Chairman and as share-
holder of various international companies 
in the above-mentioned fields such as 
Jotec GmbH (acquired by Cryolife in 2018) 
and New Valve Technology (acquired by 
Biosensors/Bluesail in 2020).

Other current positions
Chairman and CEO of Fumedica Swit-
zerland & Germany. Chairman and CEO 
of Medira AG, Muri. Chairman Valtronic 
Technologies SA, Charbonnières. Member 
of the Board and Vice President of Hotel 
Muri AG, Muri. Member of the Board of  
Muri Kultur.

Prior positions (past five years)
Chairman of Jotec AB, Chairman and CEO 
of NVT AG.

Holdings in the Company (incl. related parties)
2,903,760 shares via Fumedica AG.  
No share options in the Company.

Dependent in relation to the Company and 
its management, but independent in rela-
tion to the Company’s major shareholders.

Mette-Marie Sonne Harild
Member of the Board since 2021.  
Member of the Nomination Committee 
and Remuneration Committee.

Born 1958.

Education
Governance education, Copenhagen  
Business School, Denmark and an Executive 
Master of Business and Economics in Change 
Management, Aarhus School of Business and 
Aarhus University, Denmark, and more.

Background
A Danish national. Experience from pharma/
medical industry for more than thirty years, 
among others as Regional Vice President 
ABGI & Nordic of Medtronic A/S. Chairman of 
AmCham Healthcare Committee and a board 
member in the Danish Chamber of Com-
merce, including chairman of the Life Science 
Board. Furthermore, board member of KEA 
(Københavns Erhvervsakademi) Advisory 
board and the Danish Business Development 
Board under the Ministry of Commerce. 

Other current positions
Board member of Neurescue Aps and Qlife 
Holding AB. 

Prior positions (past five years)
Chairman of AmCham Healthcare Commit-
tee and a board member of the Danish Cham-
ber of Commerce as well as chairman of the 
Life Science Board for the Danish Chamber 
of Commerce. Furthermore, member of the 
Danish Business Development Board under 
the Ministry of Commerce (Dansk Erhvervs-
fremmebestyrelse). Regional Vice President 
ABGI & Nordic Medtronic A/S.

Holdings in the Company (incl. related parties)
8,163 shares and no share options in the 
Company. 

Independent in relation to the Company and 
its management and the Company’s major 
shareholders.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Helena Levander
Member of the Board since 2021.  
Chairperson of the Risk and Audit 
Committee.

Born 1957.

Education
Masters in Finance and Economics,  
Stockholm School of Economics, Sweden. 

Background
A Swedish national with 20 years of experi-
ence from the banking and finance sectors 
as well as from corporate governance 
and board work in Norway and Sweden. 
Previous roles include among others 
Senior Fund Manager at SEB, Nordea Bank 
and Odin Funds, and as CEO of NeoNet 
Securities AB and COO at NeoNet AB, an 
electronic equity trading platform. 

Other current positions
Chairman of the Board of Factoringgruppen 
AB and CAROLINE SVEDBOM AB. Board 
member of Stendörren Fastigheter AB 
(publ), Rejlers AB (publ), Cinclus Pharma 
AB, Concordia Maritime AB (publ) and 
Pensare Grande AB. Deputy board member 
of Spalten Vin & Gastronomi AB. 

Prior positions (past five years)
Chairman of Medivir Aktiebolag and board 
member of Recipharm AB (publ), Neuro-
Vive Pharmaceutical AB, Nordic Investor 
Services AB and Stampen AB. 

Holdings in the Company (incl. related parties)
54,399 shares and no share options.

Independent in relation to the Company and 
its management and the Company’s major 
shareholders.

Michel E. Lussier
Member of the Board since 2021.

Born 1956.

Education: Master of Science, Biomedical 
Engineering, University of Montreal, Canada 
and a Master of Business Administration 
from INSEAD Business School. 

Background
A Canadian national and a seasoned Med-
tech and Cell Therapy serial entrepreneur 
with solid expertise in the field of Interven-
tional Cardiology, Congestive Heart Failure 
Management and Digital Health both in 
North America and in Europe. Currently 
chairman/cofounder of Celyad SA, a public 
clinical stage company initially in the field 
of cell therapy for Congestive Heart Failure 
and currently Cancer (CAR-T). Previous 
experience from Medtronic Inc and Volcano 
Corp, as Group President. Experience from 
several start-up companies. 

Other current positions
Chairman of Celyad Oncology SA (Euronext 
& Nasdaq: CYAD), iSTAR Medical SA and 
Gabi Smartcare SA. CEO of Medpole Ltd. 
Gerant on MEL Management. 

Prior positions (past five years)
CEO of Metronom Health. 

Holdings in the Company (incl. related parties)
54,399 shares and no share options. 

Independent in relation to the Company and 
its management and the Company’s major 
shareholders.

Tor Peters
Member of the Board since 2009. Member 
of the Nomination Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee.

Born 1960.

Education: Bachelor of Science, University 
of Lund and an MBA from IMD in Switzerland. 

Background
A Swedish national with over 30 years of 
experience in senior positions at various 
med-tech companies, including BOC 
Ohmeda, Novo Nordisk, Scimed and Boston 
Scientific. Founder of several med-tech 
ventures and in 1996 co-founded JOMED, 
an innovative European interventional cardi-
ology company, achieving the largest global 
med-tech IPO in 2000. Joined Occlutech in 
2005 and held the position of Group CEO 
from 2009 to 2017 and Co-CEO from 2018 
to 2020. 

Other current positions
Chairman of the Board, NOLabs AB, board 
member of SIC Invent Switzerland and CEO 
of Syntach AG, Switzerland. 

Prior positions (past five years)
 –

Holdings in the Company (incl. related parties)
23,699,896 shares and 57,480 shares 
options. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Auditor
At the 2021 Annual General Meeting, the 
audit firm Deloitte AG, Zurich, Switzerland, 
was re-elected as the company’s auditor. 
Matthias Gschwend is the lead auditor.
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Executive  
Management Team

Sabine Bois
CEO since 2021 (employed by 
the company as CFO in 2014 
and co-CEO since 2018).

Born 1980.

Education
MBA in Entrepreneurship  
and Finance, University of 
Wuppertal, Germany.

Background
Over 15 years of experience 
from the Biotech/Med-tech 
industry, among others from 
supporting the foundation of 
several successful start-ups 
within the research center 
and incubator “Caesar” in 
Bonn. Co-founded the biotech 
company Biosensor/SAW 
Instruments GmbH in 2007 
(sold 2013). 

Other current positions
–

Holdings in the Company 
(including related parties)
399,040 shares and 143,680 
share options. 

Oshri Budana 
Global Head of Operations 
since 2019.

Born 1975.

Education
Studies in Business and 
Managerial Economics,  
Open University of Israel.

Background
Extensive international 
business development 
expertise and more than 20 
years’ experience in building 
and managing cross-functional 
teams and companies in 
different industries.

Other current positions
–

Holdings in the Company 
(including related parties)
–

Anders Clemensson
VP Supply Chain since 2021.

Born 1963.

Education
MSc. in Mechanical  
Engineering, Chalmers  
University of Technology  
in Gothenburg, Sweden.

Background
Over 20 years of international 
experience in the major areas 
of Supply Chain and Operations 
Management with an extensive 
knowledge of operations, 
projects and processes from 
roles such as COO at OneMed, 
Supply Chain Director at  
Mölnlycke Health Care, COO at 
Stacke Hydraulik and Opera-
tions Manager in AssaAbloy.

Other current positions
Board member and CEO of 
Springaren Management AB.

Holdings in the Company 
(including related parties)
 –

Frank Dallmann 
VP Research & Development 
since 2021.

Born 1969.

Education
Degree in Mechanical 
Engineering, Design and 
Product development from the 
Technical University in Dresden, 
Germany.

Background
20 years of international  
experience in Research and 
Development of medical 
devices. Among other  
experiences as Head of  
Shoulder Development at 
Mathys Ltd. Bettlach in 
Germany and Switzerland.

Other current positions
–

Holdings in the Company 
(including related parties)
–

MANAGEMENT

38 39



Thomas Okke Frahm
VP IT since 2022.

Born 1972.

Education
Marketing Management, 
Copenhagen Business School, 
Denmark and studies at IMD 
Business School in Lausanne, 
Switzerland.

Background
25 years of experience from IT 
strategy/transformation and 
from business development 
within the digital landscape. 
Previously similar roles within 
the Danish companies Vestas 
A/S, Nilfisk A/S, Christian 
Hansen A/S and Maersk A/S.

Other current positions
–

Holdings in the Company 
(including related parties)
–

Jannie Hestehave 
VP People & Culture since 
2021.

Born 1961.

Education
Executive MBA in Business 
Administration, AVT Business 
School in Copenhagen, 
Denmark.

Background
Global HR Director Clinical 
Diagnostics Division for 
Thermo Fisher Scientific, HR 
Director, Nordics & Baltics at 
Experian, HR Director Nordics 
at Alcon, VP & Head of Group 
HR within Clipper Group and HR 
Manager Denmark & Head of 
Talent Management Nordics & 
Baltics at Alcatel (later acquired 
by Nokia).

Other current positions
–

Holdings in the Company 
(including related parties)
–

Stefan Kleidon
VP Sales & Marketing since 
2014.

Born 1972.

Education
Diploma of Economics,  
University of Kassel, Germany. 

Background
20 years’ experience in Sales 
and Marketing in the Med-tech 
Industry and has been involved 
in business development and 
market access projects, in 
which he successfully launched 
new therapy options. Experience 
from various management 
positions at global companies 
as well as start-up companies 
such as Boston Scientific, 
St.Jude Medical and Impulse 
Dynamics.

Other current positions
–

Holdings in the Company 
(including related parties)
114,950 share options, no 
shares. 

Lars Wadell 
CFO since 2021.

Born 1959.

Education
Degree of Master of Science in 
Business and Administration, 
Stockholm School of Econom-
ics, Sweden. 

Background
Extensive experience in 
financial leadership within 
rapidly expanding international 
and multicultural organiza-
tions within the Life Science, 
Healthcare & Care, and IT 
industries, among others as 
CFO at TFS Trial Form Support 
International AB, Deputy CEO 
and CFO at Svar Life Science, 
CFO at Ambea AB, and Group 
Controller at Intentia AB (publ). 

Other current positions
LW Financial Management.

Holdings in the Company 
(including related parties)
57,480 share options, no 
shares. 

Holdings as per March 31, 2022.

MANAGEMENT
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended December 31, 2021 

EUR 000 Note 2021 2020

Revenue 3 29,078 26,702
Cost of sales 5, 6 -7,680 -6,620

Gross profit   21,398 20,082
   
Research and development expenses 5, 6 -8,191 -9,440
Selling and distribution expenses 5, 6 -10,806 -9,851
General and administrative expenses 5, 6 -11,250 -6,766
Other operating income 4 832 573

Operating loss   -8,017 -5,402
     
Finance income 7 1,663 2,136
Finance expenses 7 -13,509 -1,671

Loss before income taxes  -19,863 -4,937
    
Income tax expenses 8 -221 -1,109

Loss for the year  -20,084 -6,046
    
Earnings per share: 9  
Before dilution, EUR  -0.38 -0.14
After dilution, EUR  -0.38 -0.14
   
Number of shares: 1)   
Weighted average of shares outstanding before dilution, thousands 53,302 42,632
Weighted average of shares outstanding after dilution, thousands  53,302 42,632

1) The number of shares presented for 2020 were adjusted for the 1/10 share split that occurred on June 30, 2021.

Financial Reports
FINANCIAL REPORTS
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EUR 000   2021 2020

Loss for the year   -20,084 -6,046
     
Other comprehensive income / (loss)    
     
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligations  34 -5
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or  loss, net of income taxes  34 -5

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations   161 -118
Items that may be reclassified subsequently  to profit or loss, net of income taxes  161 -118
    
 Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year    195 -123

Total comprehensive loss for the year   -19,889 -6,169

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended December 31, 2021

FINANCIAL REPORTS
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Consolidated statement of financial position  
as of December 31, 2021

EUR 000  Note 12.31.2021 12.31.2020

ASSETS
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 10 3,356 2,603
Right-of-use assets 12 3,010  2,434
Intangible assets 11 4,580  2,241
Other financial assets  50  16
Deferred tax assets 8 3,775  2,566

Total non-current assets  14,771  9,860
   
Current assets      
Inventories 13 8,557  6,736
Other receivables, accrued income 14 1,384  710
Trade receivables 14 4,904  4,157
Cash and cash equivalents  38,188 9,321

Total current assets  53,033 20,924

Total assets  67,804 30,784

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Equity   
Share capital  15 5,687  3,822
Share premium  15 93,212 41,179
Accumulated deficit and other reserves 15 -62,337 -42,550

Total equity  36,562 2,451
    
Non-current liabilities   
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 17 1,758 2,945
Other liabilities  12, 19, 20 2,163 1,720
Deferred tax liabilities 8 1,235 906
Provisions  21 477 401

Total non-current liabilities  5,633 5,972
   
Current liabilities   
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 17 607 11,342
Derivatives 17 16,018 5,413
Trade and other payables 18 2,856 1,370
Other liabilities 12, 19, 20 6,129 4,236

Total current liabilities  25,610 22,361

Total liabilities  31,243 28,333

Total liabilities and equity  67,804 30,784

FINANCIAL REPORTS
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 

EUR 000  Note  2021 2020

Loss for the year  -20 084 -6 046
Adjustments to reconcile profit  
before tax to net cash flows   
  Depreciation and amortization 10, 11, 12 1 552 1 408
  Finance expenses 7 314 223
  Income taxes 8 -472 515
  Expenses for share-based compensation 16 244 386
  Issuance, modification and revaluation loss /  
  (gain) derivative financial instruments 7 10 604 -1 153
  Net foreign exchange differences  326 181
  Other non-cash items  -1598 -699

Net cash flow from operating activities  
before changes in working capital  -9,115 -5,185
   
Changes in net working capital    
  Change in trade receivables 14 -659 1,474
  Change in other current receivables     14 -566 746
  Change in inventories 13 -1,640 -2,563
  Change in trade and other payables  18 2,995 482

Total changes in working capital  130 139

Net cash outflow used in operating activities   -8,984 -5,046

Cash flows from investment activities   
  Purchase of property, plant and equipment 10 -1,154 -1,427
  Capitalized costs 11 -2,338 -835
  Software expenditure 11 – -39

Net cash outflow used in investment activities  -3,492 -2,301

Cash flows from financing activities   
  Proceeds from borrowings 17 – 2,857
  Repayments of borrowings 17 -12,554 –
  Proceeds from issuance of shares, net of transaction costs   15 53,710 7,440

Net cash inflow from financing activities   41,156 10,297

Effect of exchange rate changes  187 -253

Total net cash inflow  28,867 2,697

Net change in cash and cash equivalents   
  Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year   9,321 6,624

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year    38,188 9,321

Supplementary information: 
Interest paid   -535 -813
Income tax paid   -693 -594

FINANCIAL REPORTS
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity  
For the year ended December 31, 2021 

    Accumulated
    deficit 
  Share Share and other 
EUR 000 Note  capital premium reserves  Equity

As of January 1, 2020  3,419 33,846  -36,472   793
Loss for the year,  
attributable to shareholders    -6,046  -6,046
Other comprehensive loss    -123  -123
Total comprehensive loss     -6,169  -6,169
Shareholders contribution 15 394 7,046   7,440
Share based compensation 16 9 287 91  387
Total transactions with shareholders   403 7,333 91  7,827

As of December 31, 2020   3,822 41,179  -42,550  2,451
Loss for the year,  
attributable to shareholders    -20,084  -20,084
Other comprehensive income    195  195
Total comprehensive loss     -19,889  -19,889
Shareholders contribution 15 1,865 51,895   53,760
Share based compensation 16  138 100  238
Total transactions with shareholders   1,865 52,033 100  53,998

As of December 31, 2021   5,687 93,212 -62,337  36,562

FINANCIAL REPORTS
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Notes 
to the consolidated financial statements

Note 1
Information regarding the Group

Background and reporting entity
Occlutech Holding AG (the ‘Company’) is domiciled in Feldstrasse 22, 
8200 Schaffhausen, Switzerland. These consolidated financial state-
ments comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred 
to as the ‘Group’). The Group is primarily involved in the development, 
production and distribution of medical devices.

The companies which are included in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements are listed in Note 24.

These Consolidated Financial Statements were approved on May 
4, 2022 by the Company’s Board of Directors.

Note 2
Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2021 have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and comply 
with Swiss law.

The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Euros 
(EUR) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (EUR 000), 
except when otherwise indicated. The Consolidated Financial State-
ments are prepared on the historical cost basis except for all those 
assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

Going concern
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the 
basis that the Group will continue as a going concern. 

At the end of December 2021, Occlutech completed a Private 
Placement of shares amounting to SEK 450 million, before transaction 
costs, to the Fourth Swedish National Pension Fund, Carnegie Private 
Banking and certain other investors. The purpose of the issue is to 
facilitate growth, especially the significant growth opportunities in the 
US market, but also to repay maturing loans.

In response to these matters, the Group have secured it’s financing 
for the near and mid-term future and is considered meeting the going 
concern criteria.

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are all companies over which the Group has control. 
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 
Businesses acquired during the year are consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group, and businesses to be 
divested are included up to the date on which control passes from the 
Group. Intercompany balances, transactions and resulting unrealized 
income are eliminated in full.

Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount 
is presented in the statement of financial position, when, and only 
when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the 
amount and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements requires 
management to make assumptions and estimates that affect the 
reported amounts of expenses, assets and liabilities at the date of the 
Financial Statements. If in the future such assumptions and estimates 
deviate from the actual circumstances, the original assumptions and 
estimates will be modified as appropriate in the year in which the 
circumstances change. The valuation of the following material posi-
tions is based on the critical accounting estimates and judgements:

Intangible assets – capitalized costs – Development expenditures at 
product level will be capitalized when the following criteria are fulfilled 
and the Group can demonstrate the following cumulatively:

1.  Technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the 
asset will be available for use or sale

2.  Its intention to complete and its ability and intention to use or sell 
the asset

3.  How the asset will generate future economic benefits

4.  The availability of resources to complete the asset

5.  The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development.

6. The ability to use or sell the intangible asset.

Research and development costs not meeting the mentioned criteria 
above are expensed as incurred. 

Other intangible assets mainly consist of implementation cost 
related to IT systems.

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an 
asset, the asset is carried at cost less any accumulated amortization 
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins 
when development is complete, and the asset is available for use (i.e. 
when market launch has occurred). It is amortized over the expected 
useful life. During the development phase, the intangible asset is tested 
for impairment annually. 

Management is required to make estimates and judgements in the 
area of developing and financing of intangible assets not yet in use. 
As such, the Group faces development risks in terms of finalizing the 
development and launch of its products. Development risk includes 
the risk that the product does not obtain regulatory approval and 
therefore technical feasibility is not given. Financing risk exists should 
the Group not be able to raise adequate funding and/or should cash 
flows generated from existing products fail to sufficiently finance 
the development and commercialization of products still in devel-
opment. These judgements are part of the assessment whether the 
above-mentioned criteria are met to capitalize development costs.

On December 31, 2021 the carrying amount of capitalized devel-
opment costs was EUR 4,580 thousand (2020: EUR 2,241 thousand).
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Deferred tax assets – recognition – Deferred tax assets are recognized 
when it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized. At each balance 
sheet date, the Group reassesses unrecognized deferred tax assets 
and the carrying amount of deferred tax assets. The Group recognizes 
a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred 
tax asset to be recovered. The Group conversely reduces the carry-
ing amount of a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the 
benefit of part or the entire deferred tax asset to be utilized. As such, 
management is required to make estimates and judgements in the 
area of recognition of deferred tax assets because of the uncertainty 
related to the estimation of probable future taxable profits.

Provision for expected credit losses (ECL) of trade receivables 
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receiv-
ables. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings 
of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e. by 
geography, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by 
letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical 
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust 
the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. 
For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e. gross domestic 
product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can 
lead to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, 
the historical default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the 
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the 
forward-looking estimates are analyzed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed 
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant 
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circum-
stances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical 
credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may 
also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. 
The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is 
disclosed in Note 14.

Standards issued but not yet effective

Interpretation Description Entry into force Year of application

IAS 16 Amendments to property, plant and equipment: Proceeds before intended use January 1, 2022 2022
IAS 37 Amendments to onerous contracts – costs of fulfilling a contract January 1, 2022 2022
IAS 1 Amendment to classification of liabilities as current or non-current January 1, 2023 2023
Various Improvements to IFRS: Clarifications of existing IFRSs (issued in May 2020) January 1, 2023 2023
IAS 1 Amendment to classification of liabilities as current or non-current January 1, 2023 2023
IAS 8 Amendment to definition of accounting estimates January 1, 2023 2023
IAS 1 Amendment to disclosure of Accounting Policies January 1, 2023 2023
IAS 12 Amendment to deferred tax related to assets and  January 1, 2023 2023
 liabilities arising from a single transaction

FINANCIAL REPORTS

New and amended standards and interpretations
Amendments to IFRS standards that became effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021did not have a material 
impact on the Group. 

Standards issued but not yet effective
The new and amended standards and interpretations which are issued, 
but not yet effective, are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt 
these, if applicable, at the point in time when they become effective.

Apart from additional disclosure requirements, these IFRS amend-
ments are not expected to result in any significant adjustments.

Significant events during the reporting period 
The Covid-19 pandemic continued to affect the year and Q4 2021 
was hit by both the Delta and Omicron variants of the virus. Global 
healthcare markets have been partly restricted in many countries 
which can be seen in reduced sales and inventory turnover during 
the second half year.  

At the end of 2021 Occlutech completed a Private Placement of 
shares amounting to SEK 450 million, before transaction costs, to the 
Fourth Swedish National Pension Fund, Carnegie Private Banking and 
a number of other investors. 
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General accounting policies
Transactions and balances in foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into the functional 
currency at the exchange rate applicable on the transaction date. At 
the balance sheet date, assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are 
converted into the functional currency at the exchange rate applicable 
on that date, and any exchange rate differences are recorded in the 
statement of profit or loss. 

Group companies with functional currencies other than EUR
The results and financial position of foreign operations that have a 
functional currency different from the presentation currency (EUR) 
are translated into Euros as follows:

1.  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated 
into Euros at the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet.

2.  income and expenses for the statement of profit or loss and the 
statement of comprehensive income are translated into Euros at 
average exchange rates of the period, provided they approximate 
the figures which would result from the application of transaction 
date rates. If not, transactions are converted at transaction rates. 

3.  all resulting exchange gains and losses arising from translation of 
foreign operations are recognized in other comprehensive income 
and reported separately as currency translation adjustments. 

Exchange rates applied to key foreign currencies

  Average Closing Average Closing
    rates rates rates rates
Currancy  Unit 2021 2021 2020 2020

AUD 1 0.6351 0.6404 0.6039 0.6291
GBP 1 1.1636 1.1901 1.1494 1.1123
NZD 1 0.5981 0.6032 0.574 0.5888
CHF 1 0.9253 0.9680 0.9247 0.9258
USD 1 0.8460 0.8829 NA NA

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position com-
prise cash at banks and on hand and short-term highly liquid deposits 
with a maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible 
to a known amount of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 

Trade receivables
A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially 
measured at the transaction price. Subsequently accounts receivables 
are stated at their amortized cost using the effective interest method, 
less any necessary adjustments for doubtful accounts. For trade 
receivables, allowances are calculated in the amount of the expected 
credit losses over the term. The Group analyses the credit losses 
incurred in the past and estimates anticipated credit losses based on 
the economic conditions. See Note 2 ”Critical accounting estimates 
and judgements” and Note 24 for further information about credit risk 
and impairment policies. 

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Raw 
material costs are determined by using the weighted average cost 
method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises 
direct materials and labor and a proportion of manufacturing overhead, 
valued at standard cost. Standard costs are regularly reviewed and, if 
necessary, revised to reflect current conditions. Net realizable value 
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary 

to make the sale. Work in progress and finished goods are valued at 
manufacturing cost, including the cost of materials, labor and pro-
duction overheads. Inventory write-downs are recorded in the case 
of slow-moving or obsolete stock.

Property, plant & equipment
Property plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation expenses utilize the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the assets. Assets 
are depreciated to their residual value, which is usually determined as 
zero. The useful lives are summarized as follows:

  Years

Technical equipment and production machines    8
Office equipment/ furniture    8
IT/hardware    3
Leasehold improvements1  8

1) Lesser of 8 years or the useful term of the lease.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted 
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. An assets’ carrying 
amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable 
amount. Gain and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in the state-
ment of profit or loss. 

Right-of-use asset and lease liability
The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset (i.e. buildings leased) and 
a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use 
asset is initially measured at the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commence-
ment date, plus any initial direct cost incurred. The right-of-use asset 
are subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the useful life of the right-of-use 
asset or the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use assets 
are periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for 
certain remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liabilities are 
initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments 
(incl. extension options reasonably certain to be exercised if any), 
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate 
unless the rate implicit in the lease is observable. 

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to 
its short-term leases (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a 
purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recog-
nition exemption to leases that are considered to be low value. Lease 
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are 
recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Intangible assets
Development costs: Development activities involve a plan or design 
for the production of new or substantially improved products and 
processes. 

Development expenditure capitalized includes the cost of mate-
rials and external services. Furthermore, patent costs are capitalized 
and include legal fees for filing of new applications, prosecuting 
applications and maintaining granted patents. Renewable patent 
fees are capitalized until finalization of the development process. 
See more information in Note 2 ”Critical accounting estimates and 
judgements”. Other development expenditure is recognized in profit 
or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, development 
expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and 
any accumulated impairment losses. 

FINANCIAL REPORTS
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Software: Expenditure on the implementation of software, including 
licenses and external consulting fees, which are directly attributable 
to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products 
controlled by the group are recognized as intangible assets where the 
following criteria are met:

1.  it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are 
attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and 

2.  the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Costs associated with maintaining software programs are recognized 
as an expense as incurred.

Amortization is applied using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful life of the intangible asset concerned. Amortization 
begins when the asset is available for use and for each period the 
amortization is recognized in profit or loss. 
The following table shows the respective useful lives: 

   Years

Software  3
Intellectual property  5

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at 
each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate. Intangible assets 
not yet available for use (i.e. development costs, refer to Note 11) are 
tested for impairment at least annually and upon the occurrence of 
an indication of impairment. 

Income tax
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and 
deferred tax. Current and deferred tax is charged or credited to profit 
or loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly 
to Other comprehensive income (OCI) or to equity, in which case it is 
recognized in OCI or in equity, as appropriate. Current income tax is 
based on the taxable result for the period and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years. The taxable result for the period 
differs from the result as reported in profit or loss because it excludes 
items which are non-assessable or disallowed and it further excludes 
items that are taxable or deductible in other periods. It is calculated 
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the financial period.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability 
method in respect of temporary differences arising from differences 
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the Financial 
Statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation 
of taxable profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognized to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 
which deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred tax 
is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and intends 
either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group 
has a legally enforceable right to set off its current tax assets and 
liabilities, and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable 
entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current 
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realize the assets and 

settle the liabilities simultaneously in each future period in which 
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected 
to be settled or recovered.

Provisions
The Group recognizes a provision if it has a present legal or construc-
tive obligation to transfer economic benefits as a result of past events 
and if a reasonable estimate of the obligation can be made and an 
outflow of resources is probable. 

Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided 
to the group prior to the end of the financial year which are unpaid. 
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of the 
recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabil-
ities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting 
period. They are recorded initially at their fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Non-current borrowings
The non-current borrowings are initially recognized at fair value. As 
their due date is in the future the nominal amount gets discounted to 
the present value at the balance sheet date. Any unwinding of discount 
during the period is charged as interest to financial expenses and 
recognized in profit or loss. The non-current borrowings are removed 
from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract 
is discharged, cancelled or expired. If due date is within 12 months, 
the position will be reclassified to short-term.

Government Grants
Government grants are recognized where there is reasonable assur-
ance that the grant will be received, and all attached conditions will 
be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is 
recognized as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the 
related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed. 
When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognized as income in equal 
amounts over the expected useful life of the related asset. 

When the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the 
asset and the grant are recorded at fair value and released to profit or 
loss over the expected useful life of the asset, based on the pattern of 
consumption of the benefits of the underlying asset by equal annual 
instalments.

Share-based payment arrangements
The Group has a share bonus scheme for Executive Management 
and a share option scheme to employees and consultants, providing 
services similar to those rendered by employees, in place, whereby 
these individuals render services as consideration for equity instru-
ments (equity-settled transactions).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured with reference 
to the fair value of the underlying equity instruments at the date on 
which they are granted. The fair value is determined based on external 
valuation experts using an appropriate pricing model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized, together 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the 
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the 
date on which the employee or consultants become fully entitled to 
the award (‘the vesting date’).

The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled transactions 
at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which 
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the 
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The profit or loss 
charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative 
expense recognized at the beginning and end of that period.
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No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest 
because non-market performance and/or service conditions have 
not been met. Where the terms of an equity-settled award are mod-
ified, the minimum expense recognized is the expense if the terms 
had not been modified. An additional expense is recognized for any 
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based 
payment arrangement or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as 
measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had 
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognized 
for the award is recognized immediately. 

Revenue Recognition
Revenues on the sale of the Group’s products are recognized when 
a contractual promise to a customer (performance obligation) has 
been fulfilled by transferring control over the promised goods to the 
customer, in the case for distributor sales at the point in time when 
the goods are available for the clients to pick them up at the Group’s 
premises, or in the case of direct sales at hospitals, when the product is 
taken from the consignment inventory. There is only one performance 
obligation being the sale of the good.

The amount of revenue to be recognized is based on the con-
sideration the Group expects to receive in exchange for its goods. 
If products are sold with a right of return and future returns can be 
reasonably estimated, a refund liability (included in ‘Trade and other 
payables’) and a right of return asset (included in ‘Trade and other 
receivables’) are recognized. In doing so, the estimated rate of return 
is applied, determined based on historical experience of customer 
returns and considering any other relevant factors. This is applied 
to the amounts invoiced, also considering the amount of returned 
products to be destroyed versus products that can be placed back 
in inventory for resale.

The transaction price may comprise both fixed and variable 
components. Products are, in most transactions sold at pre-defined 
fixed prices, however in some contracts a volume discount is agreed 
based on specific targets. Revenue is recognised, as soon as the 
performance obligation is satisfied, at the transaction price identified.

On a monthly basis, revenue is adjusted by the estimated volume 
discounts to be applied to individual customers based on achieve-
ment of set sales targets. The Group applies the “most likely amount” 
method in order to estimate the variable considerations.

Note 3
Segment reporting

The Group has only one operating segment. The criteria applied to 
identify the operating segments is consistent with the way the Group 
is managed. In particular, the segment reporting reflects the internal 
organizational and management structure used within the group as 
well as the internal management reporting reviewed regularly by the 
Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM), which has been identified 
as the Executive Management Board (EMB). The EMB is responsible 
for the operational management of the Group, in line with the instruc-
tions issued by the Board of Directors. It is also responsible for global 
strategy and stakeholder management.

In 2021 no single customer represented 10% or more of the total 
Group revenues. Resource allocation and performance assessment 
are performed at Group level and not at component level. 

Information by geographic area
The Group operates through the Group’s subsidiaries and through 
the distributor network in Europe, Middle East and Africa (MEA), Asia 
Pacific (APAC) and the Americas (includes Canada, North and South 
America).

Sales are attributed to geographic area based on the customer’s 
location, whereas property, plant and equipment based on the geo-
graphic area where legal entities are located. The Group did not report 
other non-current assets by geographic since the cost to develop 
the information would be excessive and will not provide any material 
value to the reader. 

EUR 000 2021 2020

Revenue  
Europe 20,275 18,704
MEA 2,735 2,023
APAC 3,741 3,909
Americas 2,327 2,066

Total revenue 29,078 26,702

Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from 
contracts with customers transferred at a point in time:

EUR 000 2021 2020

Direct markets 16,827 15,446
Distributor markets 12,252 11,256

Total 29,078 26,702

Note 4
Other operating income

EUR 000 2021 2020

Government grants 363 539
Interest on financial items  – 13
Release of bad debt reserve 306 –
Other operating income 159 465
Currency exchange differences on operating items 4 21

Total operating income  832 573

Note 5
Expenses by nature

EUR 000 2021 2020

Employee benefits expense (note 6)  -20,122  -16,134
Material expense and other cost of goods sold -2,756 -2,786
Marketing -640 -657
Material & equipment -769 -221
Rental expense  -919 -884
Consulting expense -4,559 -4,722
Communication & IT -1,131 -760
Clinical studies -892 -793
R&D expenses -2,176 -1,087
Depreciation -1,552 -1,408
Insurance, charges & capital taxes -450 -465
Other operating expense -1,961 -2,760

Total expenses by nature  -37,927  -32,677

Other operating expenses includes audit fees of EUR 357 thousand
for 2021 and EUR 112 thousand for 2020.
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Note 6
Employee benefits expense

EUR 000 2021 2020

Salaries and wages -15,763 -12,867
Social security contributions -2,731 -2,016
Pension cost -326 -332
Share based compensation -238 -387
Other personnel expenses -1,064 -532

Total employee benefits expenses  -20,122 -16,134

Number of employees 290 253
Number of employees (full-time equivalent basis)  250 235

Note 7
Financial income and expense

EUR 000 2021 2020

Bank interest income  42 25
Financial gain from revaluation of  
derivatives and debt modifications (Note 17) – 1,834
Currency gains on financial items  1,621 277

Total finance income 1,663 2,136
   
Interest on debt and borrowings -733 -798
Financial expense from issuance and revaluation  
of derivatives and debt modifications (Note 17) -10,604 -681
Interest on lease liability -116 -108
Currency losses on financial items -1,947 -24
Other financial expense  -109 -60

Total financial expense -13,509 -1,671

The foreign exchange gains / losses are primarily driven by short-term 
accounts receivable and payable denominated in foreign currency: 
USD/GBP/SEK. 

 Accounts Accounts
 Receivable Payable
EUR 000 % Split  % Split

Currency 2021 2020 2021 2020

EUR 71 60 35 52
USD 20 24 2 20
GBP 5 13 4 3
SEK 1 – 25 16
TRY – – 10 6
Other  3 3 1 –
CHF – – 23 4

Note 8
Income taxes

Income taxes in statement of profit or loss and reconciliation

EUR 000 2021 2020

Current income taxes  -1,117  -1,033
Adjustments in respect of current 
 income tax of previous year – 164
Deferred income taxes 896 -240

Total income taxes -221 -1,109

The income taxes can be analyzed as follows: 

EUR 000 2021 2020

Loss before taxes -19,863 -4,937
Group’s weighted average rate, % 11.3 13,0
Income taxes at expected Group tax rate 2,249 642
Decrease tax due to other local tax rate – -196
Tax losses not capitalized -2,437 -1,514
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  
and other permanent differences -164 -60
Expenses and income not taxable 278 40
Adjustment for tax for prior years 38 164
Other income taxes -185 -189
Income taxes reported -221 -1,109
Effective tax rate, %  -1.1 -22.5

The tax rate of the Group is the weighted average tax rate obtained 
by applying the currently expected rate for each individual jurisdiction 
to its respective loss before taxes. 

Deferred income taxes
EUR 000 2021 2020

Deferred tax assets 3 775 2 566
Deferred tax liabilities -1 235 -906

Net deferred tax assets as of December 31 2 540 1 660
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

 Deferred    Deferred tax
2021 tax assets/ Deferred tax    assets / 
 (liabilities) (expenses)/ Deffered tax  Translation (liabilities)
EUR 000 Jan 1  income through OCI differences Dec 31

Share based compensation 128 2   130
Employee Benefits 41 -16 -5  19
Financial instruments 404 1,674   2,078
Leasing  17 -12   5
Write down financial assets – 20   20
Inventory (intercompany profit elimination) 1,976 -453   1,523

Total deferred tax assets 2,566 1,215 -5  3,775
Untaxed reserve -455 148   -307
Intangible assets -451 -476  -1 -928

Total deferred tax liabilities -906 -328  -1 -1,235

 Deferred    Deferred tax
2020 tax assets/ Deferred tax    assets / 
 (liabilities) (expenses)/ Deffered tax  Translation (liabilities)
EUR 000 Jan 1  income through OCI differences Dec 31

Share based compensation 116 12   128
Employee Benefits 38 2 1  41
Financial instruments, Tranche A and Tranche B 439 -127   312
Financial instruments, Tranche C 115 -23   92
Leasing  12 5   17
Inventory (intercompany profit elimination) 1,804 172   1 976

Total deferred tax assets 2,524 41 1  2,566
Untaxed reserve -340 -114  -1 -455
Intangible assets -284 -167   -451

Total deferred tax liabilities -624 -281  -1 -906

Not capitalized tax loss carry-forwards
The tax loss carry-forward not capitalized refers to the losses in 
Holding AG and Procora Holding AG, both based in Switzerland. 
Losses carry forward in Switzerland could be utilized up to seven 
years following the realization of the respective tax loss for corporate 
income tax purposes. 

  Potential
 Gross value  tax benefits

EUR 000 2021 2020 2021 2020

Expiring in 
1st-7th year 50,350 36,363 5,575 4,727
Unlimited

Total tax loss carry-forwards not  
capitalized as of December 31  50,350 36,363 5,575 4,727
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For purposes of the earnings per share calculation, management has 
used the weighted, average outstanding shares between January 1 
and December 31, 2021 as the denominator. The share capital of the 
Group is EUR 5 687 thousand, fully paid and divided into 66,140,836 
registered shares, each with a nominal value of CHF 0.10. Earnings 
per category of share were calculated on the basis of the portion of 
net profit/loss attributable to the shareholders in Occlutech Holding 
AG, based on their portion of the share capital and the average num-
ber of outstanding shares (issued shares less treasury shares). The 
impact of share-based payments arrangements are considered in 
the diluted earnings per share. The basic and diluted earnings per 
share are as follows:

 2021 2020

Loss for the period, attributable  
to shareholders, EUR 000  -20,084 -6,046
Average shares outstanding1) 53,301,651 42,631,560
Earnings per share, before dilution, EUR -0.38 -0.14
Average diluted shares outstanding2) 53,301,651 42,631,560
Earnings per share, after dilution, EUR -0,38 -0.14

1)  The number of shares for all periods presented were adjusted for the 1/10 share split 
that occurred on June 30, 2021.

2)  The Group has outstanding options and warrants (refer to Note 17), which are anti-dilutive 
and therefore no impact on conversion is assumed.

Note 10
Property, plant and equipment

 Technical equipment Office
 and production equipment/  Leasehold Construction
EUR 000 machines furniture IT/hardware improvements in progress Total

At cost 
Balance as of January 1, 2020 1,603 212 547 5 – 2,367
Additions 684 115 278 350 – 1,427
Disposals – – -1 – – -1

Balance as of December 31, 2020 2,287 327 824 355 – 3,793
      
Balance as of January 1, 2021 2,287 327 824 355 – 3,793
Additions 262 105 79 891 19 1,356
Reclassifications 409 79 -211 428 – 704
Disposals -36 -3 -11 – – -50

Balance as of December 31, 2021 2,922 508 681 1,674 18 5,803

 Technical equipment Office
 and production equipment/  Leasehold Construction
EUR 000 machines furniture IT/hardware improvements in progess Total

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as of January 1, 2020 388 62 240 2 – 691
Annual depreciation 246 34 207 12 – 499

Balance as of December 31, 2020 634 96 447 14 – 1,190
      
Balance as of January 1, 2021 634 96 447 14 – 1,190
Reclassifications 413 66 12 211 – 704
Disposals – – -6 – – -6
Annual depreciation 306 83 88 80 – 558

Balance as of December 31, 2021 1,354 244 541 305 – 2,446

 Technical equipment Office
 and production equipment/  Leasehold Construction
EUR 000 machines furniture IT/hardware improvements in progess Total

Net book value
Balance as of December 31, 2020 1,653 231 377 342 – 2,603
Balance as of December 31, 2021 1,568 262 140 1,368 18 3,356

Note 9
Earnings per share
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Note 11
Intangible assets

The intangible assets consist of two categories including software 
and development cost for medical devices. Software is amortized 
over its useful life. Intellectual property is amortized over their useful 
life. All other products are not yet available for use and therefore not 
amortized but tested for impairment annually. Amortization will only 
commence upon market launch.

 Intellectual 
EUR 000 property Software Total

At cost     
Balance as of January 1, 2020 1,317 50 1,367
Additions 835 39 874

Balance as of December 31, 2020 2,152 89 2,241
   
Balance as of January 1, 2021 2,152 89 2,241
Additions 2,338 – 2,338

Balance as of December 31, 2021 4,490 89 4,580

 Intellectual 
EUR 000 property Software Total

Net book value     
Balance as of December 31, 2020 2,152 89 2,241
Balance as of December 31, 2021 4 490 89 4,580

The impairment test is performed by comparing the carrying value 
of the assets with their recoverable amount of the cash generating 
unit. The Group determines the recoverable amount by applying a 
value-in-use calculation. An impairment will be recorded if the carry-
ing value of the cash-generating units exceeds its value in use. The 
valuation is carried out on the basis of projected future free cash 
flows from cash-generation using the discounted cash flow (DCF) 
method. The values assigned to the key assumptions outlined further 
below represent management’s assessment of the core product’s 
commercialization potential as well as of future trends in the relevant 
industry and have been based on historical data from both external 
and internal sources. The projected cash flows are derived from the 
applicable parts of the Business plan of the Group which has been 
prepared by the management. For the annual impairment test the 
applied (pre-tax) weighted average cost of capital (WACC) is 14%. 
The WACC has been derived by using market data from peer group 
companies and considering the development status of the Groups 
products. The terminal long-term growth rate is assumed to be 3%, 
which is consistent with the assumptions that a market participant 
would make. 

Note 12
Right-of-use assets

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recog-
nized and the movements during the period:

 Real Motor Other
EUR 000 Estate vehicles equipment Total

At cost
Balance as of January 1, 2020 3,693 557 14 4,264
Additions 77 107 – 184
Terminations -10 – – -10

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2020 3,760 664 14 4,438
    
Balance as of January 1, 2021 3,760 664 14 4,438
Additions 55 314 – 369
Modification 1,202 – – 1,202

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2021 5,017 978 14 6,009

 Real Motor Other
EUR 000 Estate vehicles equipment Total

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as of January 1, 2020 808 284 4 1,096
Annual depreciation 725 180 3 908

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2020 1,533 464 7 2,004
    
Balance as of January 1, 2021 1,533 464 7 2,004
Annual depreciation 802 190 3 995

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2021 2,335 654 10 2,999

 Real Motor Other
EUR 000 Estate vehicles equipment Total

Net book value    
Balance as of Dec. 31, 2020 2,226 200 7 2,434
Balance as of Dec. 31, 2021 2,682 324 4 3,010

Setout below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included in 
Other liabilities) and the movements during the period:

EUR 000 2021 2020

Interest expenses 116 108
Payments -1,112 -971

Current 843 872
Non-Current  2,063 1,519

Total lease liablility* 2,907 2,392

* The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is presented in Note 24.
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Note 14
Trade and other receivables

EUR 000 2021 2020 

Trade receivables 5,351 5,373
Allowances for expected credit losses -447 -1,216

Total Trade receivables 4 904 4 157

VAT and other tax receivables 665 47
Prepaid expenses 64 419
Other current receivables 131 –
Accrued income 523 244

Other receivables, accruals 
and prepaid expenses 1,384 710

 2021 2020

 Gross carrying Expected  Gross carrying Expected
 amount at credit Expected amount at credit Expected
 risk of default loss rate credit loss risk of default loss rate credit loss
 EUR 000 % EUR 000 EUR 000 % EUR 000

Amounts due:  2,158 – – 2,579 – –
Not due 3,193 – – 2,794 – –
Within 30 days 1,178 – – 593 – –
30–60 days 469 10 32 210 10 21
61–90 days – 15 – 243 15 37
After 90 days 511 75 415 1,533 75 1,157

Total 5,351 – 447 5,373 – 1,216

The fully paid-in share capital of the Company amounts to CHF 
6,614,083.60 (EUR 5,687 thousand) and is divided into 66,140,836 
registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.10. 

Authorized capital 
The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the share capital 
in one or more tranches within two years from June 30, 2021 by a 
maximum amount of CHF 1,867,833. Increases of the share capital 
in partial amounts is permitted.

Number of issued shares developed as follows:

Number of shares1) 2021 2020

Outstanding as of January 1 46,344,200 42,006,650
Issued on March 16, 2020  
from authorized capital – 124,070
Issued on November 16, 2020  
from authorized capital – 4,213,480
Issued on March 2, 2021 from  
authorized capital 7,022,470  –
Issued on June 24, 2021 from  
authorized capital 98,110  –
Issued on December 10, 2021  
from authorized capital 12,676,056  –

Outstanding as of December 31 66,140,836 46,344,200

Conditional capital for employee share option plans
The share capital may be increased by a maximum amount of CHF 
800,500 by issuing a maximum number of 8,005,000 fully paid-up 
registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.10 each by exercise 
of option rights, granted to the employees, members of the Execu-
tive Management or of the Board of Directors and its subsidiaries. 
Shareholders’ subscription rights are excluded in relation to these 
registered shares.  

Capital increases
In 2021 the Company issued 98,110 bonus shares (more information 
in Note 16), and 19,698,526 new shares to shareholders for a total of 
CHF 59.6 million, respectively 124,070 bonus shares and 4,213,480 
new shares for a total of CHF 8.1 million in 20201).

Translation differences
The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences 
arising from the translation of the Financial Statements of foreign 
operations. 

Share premium account
As of December 31, 2021 the Company has CHF 105.1 million (EUR 
95.6 million) capital contribution reserves, which are tax-exempted 
for distribution to shareholders, whereas CHF 47.6 million (EUR 40.9 
million) are approved by tax authorities, and CHF 57.5 million (EUR 
54.7 million) relate to capital increases occurred in 2021 and are 
expected to be approved by the tax authorities in 2022.

1)  The number of shares presented for all periods were adjusted for the 1/10 share split 
that occurred on June 30, 2021.

Note 15
Equity
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Note 13
Inventories

EUR 000 Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 

Raw materials 1,437 1,579
Work in progress 481 247
Finished goods  6,639 4,910

Total inventory 8,557 6,736

Change in inventory is classified as cost of sales and amount to EUR 
1.6 million (EUR 2.6 million). Write-down of inventory to net realizable 
value due to products with short durability or other impairment risk, 
amounts to EUR 296 thousand.

Note 14 cont.
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The Group has committed to a share option-based compensation 
scheme to employees and consultants who distinguished themselves 
by a particular strong commitment to the Group. The total share-based 
payment expenses amounted to EUR 100 thousand in 2021 and EUR 
91 thousand in 2020.

In addition, share bonus payments for Executive Management 
amounted to EUR 244 thousand in 2021, and EUR 295 thousand in 
2020. 

Share option scheme with employees and consultants
The Group has committed since 2016 to a share option-based com-
pensation scheme to employees and consultants providing services 
similar to those rendered by employees who distinguished themselves 
by a particular strong commitment to the Group. 

The Group has an obligation to settle the award in its own equity 
instruments (shares), and no present obligation to settle in cash. 
In case of a liquidity event (e.g. IPO, trade sales), the options will 
be converted into a net worth and paid out in cash. The award is 
classified as equity-settled share-based payment transaction. The 
share options granted have an exercise price of EUR 1.74. Vesting 
periods are individually determined and may last up to four years. 
The exercise period varies between one and four years after the end 
of the vesting period.

The following table illustrates the number of and movements 
in share options during the year (no options have been exercised or 
forfeited):

Share Options during the year1 2021 2020

Outstanding as of January, 1 1,896,680 1,839,190
Granted during the year – 57,480
Outstanding as of December 31 1,896,680 1,896,670
Exercisable as of December 31 1,896,680 1,853,560

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year 
2021 was EUR 3.37 (2020: EUR 3.40). The weighted average remaining 
contractual life for the share options outstanding as of December 31, 
2021 was 1.78 years (2020: 2.78 years) which equals expected life of 
share options. As there is no publicly traded market price available for 
the Group at the grant date of the share options, the share price fair 
value was determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton formula by a 
third-party valuation firm for each year of the financial statements 
except for the current year 2021, where the fair value of the shares was 
derived from the level 2 observable market price from the private equity 
transaction disclosed in Note 2 Significant events during the reporting 
period and Note 15. The fair value at grant date of the equity-settled 
share-based payment plans which materially equals weighted average 
share price amounted to EUR 3.46 in 2021 (2020: EUR 1.77). 

The share-based payment expenses under share-option plan 
amounted to EUR 91 thousand in 2020.

Additionally, in 2010, EUR 100 thousand was granted to an 
employee in the form of shares. The options are exercisable upon 
change of control event (sale or IPO). As the options were granted 
and vested before January 1, 2018, they are exempt from IFRS 2 
application. 

Share bonus scheme
In addition, the Group has a share bonus scheme for Executive  
Management, that is rewarded annually with shares in the company 
(for this purpose referred to as “Common Stock”, equivalent to an 
aggregate value per calendar year as long as engaged by the Company 
(i.e. the relevant employment, management or similar agreement has 
not been terminated or will (foreseeably) be terminated.)  

The value of the relevant Common Stock is either established by 
a recent transaction (if any) or by a relevant third-party evaluation. The 
granting of Common Stock is valid for one year (i.e. the relevant shares 
“vest” over the year of tenure). The number and weighted average fair 
value of granted shares during the period at the measurement date 
amounted to:

 2021 2020

Number of Company stocks2) 98 110 106 040
Weighted average fair value (EUR) 3.52 1.77

Measurement of fair values
All equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value at grant date 
and recognized as expenses over the vesting period. Share-based 
payment transactions with employees are measured with reference 
to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. Since the services 
acquired from consultants cannot be measured reliably, the services 
are measured indirectly – i.e. with reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments granted.

As in 2020 there was no publicly traded market price available for 
the Group at the grant date of the share agreements, the share price 
fair value was determined by a third-party valuation firm. 

The fair value at grant date of the equity-settled share-based 
payment plans which materially equals weighted average share price 
amounted to EUR 3.52 in 2021 (2020: EUR 1.77), considering a risk-free 
interest rate of zero, no expected annual dividend yield and volatility 
of approximately 33%.

Note 16
Share-based compensation

1) The number of share options, share price and strike price presented for 2020, were adjusted for the 1/10 share split that occurred on June 30, 2021.
2)  The number of shares presented for 2020 were adjusted for the 1/10 share split that occurred on June 30, 2021.
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Note 17
Interest bearing loans and borrowings

EUR 000 2021 2020 

Secured bank loan – non- current  1,751 2,500
Loan from third parties/shareholders – 11,011
Other loans and borrowing  614 776

Total 2,365 14,287

Current 607 11,342
Non-current  1,758 2,945

Total 2,365 14,287

In 2014 and 2016 respectively, the Group entered three loan agree-
ments with third parties to finance its ongoing operations. Additionally 
to the interest payable, the loan agreements included embedded 
derivatives in the form of warrants on the Group’s own shares and 
cash-settled instruments based on the equity value of the Group 
(equity kicker). Both embedded derivatives, warrants and equity kicker, 
were bifurcated from the host liability and initially recorded at fair value 
and presented in a separate financial statement line Derivatives. The 
subsequent measurement was of fair value through profit or loss 
with changes in fair value recorded in finance income and expenses.

In 2021, the loans were repaid and final warrants were issued. 
The following table illustrates the number of and movements of out-
standing warrants during the year (no warrants have been exercised):

Warrants during the year1) 2021 2020

Outstanding as of January 1 3,417,560 3,076,870
Granted during the year 1,335,613 340,690
Outstanding as of December 31 4,753,173 3,417,560
Exercisable as of December 31 – –

EUR 000 2021 2020

Warrants  16,018 5,413

Total 16,018 5,413

Current 16,018 5,413
Non-current  – –

Total 16,018 5,413

1)  The number of shares and warrants presented for 2020 were adjusted for the 1/10 share 
split that occurred on June 30, 2021.

On June 1, 2022, or immediately prior to a liquidity event (sale or 
IPO) of more than 80% of the Company’s shares, the warrants shall 
be converted into the corresponding number of shares against the 
prepayment of the strike price of CHF 0.10 per share (see more infor-
mation in Note 25).

The secured bank loan of EUR 2.5 million is an investment loan 
provided to the German subsidiary Occlutech GmbH in 2020. The 
loan is repayable on a quarterly basis starting September 30, 2021, 
with the last repayment on June 30, 2026. The facility is secured by 
a first charge over certain of the German subsidiary’s balance sheet 
accounts, with a carrying value of EUR 2.5 million.

Note 18
Trade and other payables

EUR 000 2021 2020 

Trade payables 2,856 1,195
Interest payables – 175

Total trade and other payable 2,856 1,370

Note 19
Other liabilities

EUR 000 2021 2020 

Other current liabilities  
Accrued expenses 2,611 1,983
Current lease liabilities 843 872
Deferred income (government grants) – 145
VAT and other tax payables 501 105
Income tax liability 1,543 481
Current government grants 61 80
Other liabilities 570 570

Total other current liabilities 6,129 4,236
  
Other non- current liabilities  
Non-current lease liabilities  2,063 1,519
Non-current government grants 100 201
Other non-current liabilities – –

Total non-current liabilities 2,163 1,720

Note 20
Government grants

The Group has one loan that have been classified to include a govern-
ment grant as the interest rate of the loans are at below market rate 
of interest. The German subsidiary received a loan with a lower than 
market interest rate in 2020 with nominal value of EUR 2.5 million 
at 1% interest (included in Non-current interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings, see Note 17). The benefit of the lower interest rate received 
is adjusted for under IFRS as other operating income and an additional 
interest expense during the length of the loan.

EUR 000 2021 2020
As of January 1  281 5
Received during the year – 831
Released to the statement of profit or loss -120 -555

As of December 31 161 281
  
Current (presented in Note 19) 61 80
Non-Current (presented in Note 19) 100 201

Note 21
Provisions

EUR 000 2021 2020 

Warranty 80 70
Pension 182 331
Other provisions 215 –

Total provisions 477 401

FINANCIAL REPORTS
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Note 22
Companies included in consolidated financial statements

 Share capital in EUR 000

Company Domicile Purpose Share in %  2021 2020

Occlutech Holding AG Switzerland Holding –  5,687 3,813
Occlutech GmbH Germany R&D, Manufacturing, Distribution 100  53 53
Occlutech International AB Sweden Management, Distribution/Marketing 100  10 10
Occlutech Tibbi Ürünler Sanayi ve Ticaret Ltd Turkey R&D, Manufacturing 100  3,696 3,696
Occlutech France SARL  France Distribution 100  1,402 1,402
Occlutech Italia s.r.l. Italy Distribution 100  600 600
Occlutech UK Ltd. United Kingdom Distribution 100  584 556
Occlutech Australia Pty. Ltd. Australia Distribution 100  365 377
Occlutech NZ Ltd. New Zealand Distribution 100  360 353
Occlutech US LLC USA R&D, Distribution 100  1 –
Occlutech Canada Inc. Canada Distribution 100  1 –
Occlutech Procora AG Switzerland Holding 100  93 93

Note 23
Contingent liabilities, commitments, and encumbrances of assets

There are no contingent liabilities, commitments or other encumbrances of assets.

FINANCIAL REPORTS
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The Group has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments:
1. Credit risk 
2. Liquidity risk 
3. Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each 
of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring risk, and the Group’s management of capital.  

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, credit exposures to 
customers including outstanding trade and other receivables. Financial 
credit risks constitute the risk of losses if the counterparties do not 
fully meet their commitments. The Group’s customers are found pri-
marily in the public sector, which means that its credit risk is generally 
low. Both past experience and forward-looking information is used 
when assessing risk exposure in receivables. 

The Group always measures the loss allowance for trade receiva-
bles at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit losses on 
trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference 
to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s 
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the 
debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as 
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. The Group 
has recognized a loss allowance of 100% against all receivables over 
365 days past due because historical experience has indicated that 
these receivables are generally not recoverable. See Note 14 for an 
analysis of credit exposure in accounts receivable. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in 
meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that 
are settled by delivery of cash or another financial asset. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that 
it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s 
reputation. The Group avail themselves from a letter of financial 
support from their ultimate controlling shareholder which confirms 
that he is able to continue to provide financial support to the group 
companies to enable them to meet in the ordinary course of business 
their financial needs for at least the next twelve months from the date 
of approval of the financial statements. The Group evaluate financing 
alternatives to address the financing requirements to support the 
continued expansion.

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s 
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments:

 Up to From 1 to More than Carrying
EUR 000 1 year 5 years 5 years amount

December 31, 2021    
Accounts payable - trade 2,856 – – 2,856
Other liabilities 5,286 100 – 5,386
Lease Liabilities 843 2,063 – 2,907
Loans and borrowings  607 1,758 – 2,365

Total 9,592 3,922 – 13,514

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest 
rates and foreign exchange rates will affect the Group’s income or the 
value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market 
risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. The Group 
is not significantly exposed to interest risk.

The following table shows the sensitivity to interest rate changes, 
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s Profit or Loss 
and Equity:

 Amount Increase
EUR 000 in EUR 50bp

Secured bank loan 2,250 11.3
Other loans  – –

Total  2,250 11.3

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable pos-
sible currency rate change of the Group’s Profit before taxes and of the 
Group’s Equity, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity 
analysis considers major foreign currency risk exposures.

Translation effects EUR vs (+5%)

EUR m SEK CHF TRY GBP USD
Profit/(Loss) -0.5 -0.5 -0.2 0.0 0.3
Equity -0.5 -0.6 -0.2 0.0 0.3

Capital management
The Directors’ policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to 
sustain future development of the business. The Company conducts 
clinical studies in the US which involves future capital injections. The 
Directors monitor investment needs and return on capital. The Group 
defines return on capital as the profit/loss from operating activities 
divided by total shareholders’ equity. There were no changes in the 
Group’s approach to capital management during the period. The Group 
is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. The Board 
of Directors of Occlutech does not intend to propose any dividends 
to shareholders until the company generates long-term sustainable 
profitability. Any future dividend and the size thereof will be based on 
the company’s long-term growth, earnings performance and capital 
needs, taking into account current objectives and strategies.

Note 24
Financial risk management
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Financial assets and financial liabilities
The table below shows a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments carried in the 
consolidated financial statements:

 Carrying amount (by measurement basis)
 Fair Value Comparison
December 31, 2020, EUR 000 Amortized cost Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Fair Value

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9,321 – – – 9,321 –

Financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings  12,454 – – – 12,454 –
Derivatives – – – 5,413 5,413 –
Secured bank loan 2,500 – – – 2,500 –

 Carrying amount (by measurement basis)
 Fair Value Comparison
December 31, 2021, EUR 000 Amortized cost Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Fair Value

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 38,188 – – – 38,188 –

Financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings  178 – – – 178 –
Derivatives – – 16,018 – 16,018 –
Secured bank loan 2,250 – – – 2,250 –

The fair value of current financial assets and liabilities at amortized 
cost is assumed to approximate their carrying amounts due to the 
short-term nature of these financial instruments. 

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and 
disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

1.  Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities

2.  Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly

3.  Level 3: Techniques that use inputs with a significant effect on the 
recorded fair value and that are not based on observable market 
data

The outstanding warrants (see Note 17) were revalued at the year-end 
2021, based on the share price that several of the company independ-
ent investors paid in December 2021 (see Note 15, Equity), which is 
a directly observable input other than quoted prices. The price per 
warrant was determined to be EUR 3.37, reflecting the last paid share 
price of EUR 3.46 less the nominal value of EUR 0.09.

In 2020, the fair value of the warrants was calculated using the 
Black-Scholes model. The primary unobservable inputs used in the 
model include the implicit share price at valuation date of EUR 1.77 
and term-specific volatility of 34.81% - 46.64 based on a peer group. 
The following tables provide the effect of changes in the unobservable 
inputs on the financial result:

EUR 000, December 31, 2020 Effect on financial

Change in share price 5%  286
 -5% -286

Change in volatility 5% –
 -5% –

Furthermore, the maintenance of a dividend yield of 0.0% has been 
assumed. Given that the borrower is not publicly listed, actual stock 
prices and volatilities of the borrower are not observable. Therefore, 
all relating input parameters underly professional judgement.

The below tables shows how the fair value for the Level 3 deriv-
ative instruments moved from period to period:

 2021 2020

Opening balance 5,413 6,960
Modification losses – 322
Modification gains – -858
Revaluation gains  – -1,011
Revaluation losses 7,356 –
Issues 3,248 –
Transfer out of Level 3 -16,018 –

Ending balance – 5,413

The below tables shows the net gain/loss on financial instruments 
recorded per period in the consolidated statement of profit or loss:

 2021 2020

Gain/(losses) on derivative revaluations  
and (de)-recognitions -7,356 1,547
Interest expense on financial  
liabilities at amortized cost 733 798

FINANCIAL REPORTS
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Related parties primarily comprise members of Group Executive 
Management, members of the Board of Directors and significant 
shareholders. Tor Peters (Member of the Board of Directors) is the 
ultimate controlling party and holds more than 30% of the issued 
share capital of the Group’s ultimate parent Occlutech Holding AG. 
Transactions with related parties are carried out at arm’s length. 

Operating transactions
Except for salaries, management fees, and related taxes, transactions 
with related parties occurred as reported in below table:

EUR 000 2021 2020

Accounting and consulting services 456 497

There are outstanding balances with related party as reported in 
below table:

EUR 000 2021 2020

Related parties receivables – –
Related parties liabilities 27 70

Note 26
Events after the balance sheet date

The Russian military invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 has resulted 
in increased global economic uncertainty and there is, among other 
things, a risk of supply chain disruptions and/or rising prices of raw 
materials, including energy, as well as a risk of a slowdown in eco-
nomic activity in general. The uncertainty prevailing at the time of 
publishing this report makes it difficult to assess how this will affect 
Occlutech’s future revenue and earnings, however the revenue from 
Russia, Belarus and Ukraine is limited to below 5% of total revenue 
and is why the impact is expected to be limited.

In April 2022, the Company received the “Exercise Notice” for all 
4,753,173 outstanding warrants as disclosed in Note 17 and Note 
25. The issuance of the 4,753,173 new shares from conditional capital 
of the Company is planned as of May 25, 2022 (completion date). 
Upon exercise of the warrants, the current derivative liability will be 
transferred to other reserves in equity.

Note 25
Compensation to Senior Executives and Related Parties Transactions

The Executive Management during the year consisted of the CEO and additional 7 (3) persons. Remuneration of the members of the Executive 
Management consists of a fixed compensation and a performance component. The amount of the performance remuneration paid to the 
members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management depends on the qualitative and quantitative targets and parameters 
defined by the Board of Directors.

CEO’s agreement can be terminated by either party with a notice period of 6(6) months. 

 2021 2020

  Social Share based  Social Share based
EUR 000 Salaries security compensation Salaries security compensation

Marianne Dicander Alexandersson,  
Chairperson of the board 56 14 – – – –
Urs Christen, Director  22 6 – – – –
Mette-Marie Sonne Harild, Director  24 6 – – – –
Helena Levander, Director  37 9 – – – –
Michel E. Lussier, Director  37 – – – – –
Tor Peters, Director  – – – – – –
Toru Takamiya, Director until April, 20211 – – – – – –
Christan Risch, Director until April, 20211 – – – – – –
Reto Garzetti, Director until April, 20211 – – – – – –
Sabine Bois, CEO  422 12 100 396 12 100
Other senior executives 7 (3) persons 1,271  265  44 940 133 195

Total 1,869 312 144 1,336 145 295

1)  In April 2021, Christian Risch, Toru Takamiya and Reto Garzetti left the Board, and Marianne Dicander Alexandersson, Mette-Marie Sonne Harild, Helena Levander and Michel E. Lussier 
were appointed as new board members. Marianne Dicander Alexandersson was appointed Chair of the Board.

2) The minutes from the Annual General Meeting 2021 refers the executive management of the Company as to the CEO and CFO (see page 30 in the Governance Report for the minutes).
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Signatures of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors, the CEO and the CFO assure that the Annual and Sustainability Report 2021 provides an accurate overview 

of the operations, financial position and performance of the Group, and that it describes the significant risks and uncertainties  
faced by the companies that are part of the Group. 

Schaffhausen, 
May 4, 2022

Marianne Dicander Alexandersson
Chair of the Board

Helena Levander
Board member

Michel E. Lussier
Board member

Tor Peters
Board member

Urs Christen
Board member

Mette-Marie Harild
Board member

Sabine Bois
CEO

Lars Wadell
CFO
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Deloitte AG 
Pfingstweidstrasse 11 
8005 Zürich  
Schweiz 
 
Phone: +41 (0)58 279 6000 
Fax: +41 (0)58 279 6600 
www.deloitte.ch 
 

Report of the Statutory Auditor 
 
To the General Meeting of 
Occlutech Holding AG,  
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Occlutech Holding AG and its subsidiary 
companies (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 
31, 2021, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies (the 
“consolidated financial statements”). 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements (pages 42 to 62) give a true and fair view of the 
financial position and results of operations of the group as at December 31, 2021 and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Swiss law. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, the International Standards on Auditing (ISA) 
and Swiss Auditing Standards (PS). Our responsibilities according to these regulations and standards 
are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibility for the Auditing of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements” paragraph of our report.  
 
In accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of our profession as well as those 
of the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants (IESBA Code), we are independent of the group and we have fulfilled our other 
professional duties in line with these requirements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
 
Other Information in the Annual Report 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information 
includes all information presented in the annual report with the exception of the consolidated financial 
statements, the annual financial statements and our associated reports. 
 
The other information in the annual report does not form part of our audit opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements and we do not make any assertions regarding this information. 
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In the course of our audit of the consolidated financial statements, it is our duty to read the other 
information and to assess whether it contains any material inconsistencies with regard to the 
consolidated financial statements or our audit findings, or whether the other information appears to be 
materially misrepresented in any other way. If, based on the procedures we perform, we reach the 
conclusion that the other information is materially misrepresented, we are obligated to report that this 
is the case, but we are not obliged to comment on it. 
 
Board of Directors' Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing the consolidated financial statements in a manner such 
that they give a true and fair picture in compliance with IFRS and the statutory provisions, and also for the 
internal controls it deems necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free of material misrepresentations, whether intentional or not. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the 
ability of the group to continue as a going concern, for disclosing matters relating to the ability of the 
group to continue as a going concern, where appropriate, and for applying the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Board of Directors intends to liquidate the group or discontinue its operations, or 
where no realistic alternative to such action exists. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility for the Auditing of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatements, whether intentional or not, and to deliver a report that expresses 
our audit opinion. Reasonable assurance represents a high degree of certainty, but is not a guarantee, 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law, the ISA and Swiss Auditing Standards will 
consistently uncover any material misstatements that may have been made. Misstatements may result 
from wilful actions or errors, and are considered material if, either individually or as a whole, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users reach on the basis of the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
When conducting an audit in accordance with Swiss law and the ISA and PS standards, we exercise due 
professional judgement and maintain a critical approach throughout the audit. In addition: 
 

• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial 
statements, whether intentional or unintentional; we plan and carry out audit procedures in 
response to these risks; and we obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to serve 
as a basis for our audit opinion. The risk of material misstatement resulting from wilful actions 
not being uncovered is greater than that of material misstatement resulting from errors, as wilful 
actions can include fraudulent collaboration, falsifications, intentional omissions, misleading 
representations and the overriding of internal controls. 

• We gain an understanding of the internal control system relevant to the audit in order to plan 
audit procedures that are appropriate under the given circumstances, but not with the objective 
of expressing an audit opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control system. 
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• We assess the appropriateness of the applied accounting methods and the reasonableness of 
the accounting estimates presented, as well as the related notes. 

• We reach a conclusion on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ application of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, we determine whether 
material uncertainties exist relating to events or factors that may give rise to significant doubts 
as to the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Should we reach the conclusion that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are obligated in our report to refer to the relevant information in 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements or, in the event that such information is not 
appropriate, to change our audit opinion. We draw our conclusions on the basis of the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events or factors may result in 
the group being unable to continue as a going concern. 

• We assess the presentation as a whole and the structure and contents of the consolidated 
financial statements, including the associated information in the notes, and determine whether 
the consolidated financial statements reflect the underlying business transactions and events in 
a manner that provides an appropriate overall representation.  

• We obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence on the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the group to express an audit opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for directing, monitoring and performing the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements. We bear sole responsibility for our audit opinion. 

 
Matters discussed by us with the Board of Directors and/or its delegated committee include the planned 
extent and scheduling of the audit as well as significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in the internal control system identified during our examination. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Statutory Requirements 

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 (3) CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an 
internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 
 
We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 
 
 
Deloitte AG 
 
 
 
Matthias Gschwend Dominik Voegtli 
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 
 
Zurich May 4, 2022 
MGS/DVO/vpf
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Balance sheet as of December 31, 2021

Financial Statement 

  31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Statement of financial position Note EUR 000 CHF 000 EUR 000 CHF 000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1 31,904 33,058 4,878 5,269
Receivables due from subsidiaries  5,508 5,707 1 1
Other current assets  197 204 28 30

Total current assets  37,609 38,969 4,907 5,300
   
Non-current assets      
Loans due from subsidiaries 2 6,785 7,030 2,969 3,206
Participations 3 14,817 15,352 14,817 16,004

Financial Assets  21,602 22,382 17,785 19,211

Other non current assets  1 1 6 7

Total non-current assets  21,603 22,383 17,791 19,217

Total Assets  59,212 61,352 22,698 24,518

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities   
Accounts payable third party  1,654 1,714 103 112
Other liabilities due to subsidiaries 4 12,932 13,399 1,299 1,403
Other current liabilities  46 48 54 59
Accrued expenses  1,076 1,115 332 359
Short term loans 5 1,227 1,271 15,327 16,556

Total liabilities  16,935 17,547 17,116 18,488
    
EQUITY
Share capital  5,687 6,614 3,813 4,634
Legal reserves  38 50 38 50
Reserves from capital contributions  95,622 105,138 40,893 47,622
Accumulated losses  -39,161 -43,983 -33,679 -38,061
Net loss  -19,909 -20,629 -5,483 -5,922
Currency translation adjustment  – -3,385 – -2,293

Total Equity 6 42,277 43,805 5,582 6,030

Total Liabilities and Equity  59,212 61,352 22,698 24,518
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Statement of profit and loss

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Statement of profit or loss Note EUR 000 CHF 000 EUR 000 CHF 000

Income from service recharges to subsidiaries  5,452 5,649 3,755 4,056

Gross profit  5,452 5,649 3,755 4,056
   
Personnel costs  -1,154 -1,196 -781 -844

Gross profit after personnel costs  4,298 4,454 2,974 3,212

General and administrative expenditures 7 -8,679 -8,992 -666 -720
Research and development expenditures 8 -14,273 -14,789 -7,296 -7,880

Total Operational expenditures  -22,952 -23,782 -7,962 -8,600

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization -18,654 -19,328 -4,988 -5,388
Depreciation and impairments  -71 -74 -158 -171

Earnings before interest and taxes  -18,724 -19,401 -5,146 -5,559

Financial result 9 -1,184 -1,227 -336 -363

Earnings before tax  -19,909 -20,628 -5,482 -5,922

Tax expense for the year  -0 -0 -0 -0

Net result of the period  -19,909 -20,629 -5,483 -5,922
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Significant accounting principles
Occlutech Holding AG is located in Schaffhausen and presents its 
figures according to the relevant articles of the Swiss Company Law.
The Board of Directors resolved to change the business year-end of 
the Company from June 30 to December 31. Therefore, these financial
statements present the income statement for the period from January 
1, 2021 to December 31, 2021 (comparison period July 1, 2020 to 
December 31, 2020). As the parent company of the Occlutech Group, 
the purpose of Occlutech Holding AG is to acquire, dispose of and 
manage investments.

Accounting policies
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Swiss Law on Accounting and Financial Reporting (32nd title of the 
Swiss Code of Obligations). Where not prescribed by law, the signifi-
cant accounting and valuation principles applied are described below.
As Occlutech Holding AG has prepared consolidated financial state-
ments in compliance with accepted international accounting stand-
ards (IFRS), it has decided to forego presenting a cash flow statement 
and additional disclosures in accordance with the law.

Financial assets
Financial assets mainly comprise loans to group companies. Such 
IC loans are stated at nominal value less necessary impairments;
the related interest income is recognized using the effective interest 
method.

Financial liabilities
All loans and borrowings are initially recognized at fair value net of 
issue costs directly associated with the borrowing. After initial recog-
nition, interestbearing loans and borrowings are measured at nominal 
value using the effective interest rate method. Non-current loans are 
recognized at nominal value. All contractual interests are accrued on 
a ongoing basis and shown -if not paid - as current liability.

Notes

Share bonus plan
Individual share bonus plans have been in place since 2011. Share 
based payments to Senior Executives are measured at market value 
at the issue date and recognized as personnel expenses.

Stock option plan
In spring 2016, a stock option plan was defined and implemented. 
Under the terms of this plan, share options are granted to managers,
employees and partners.

Options are both conditional (employees) and non-conditional 
(partners). Options are not transferable and only exerciseable by 
the beneficiary. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to 
repurchase or settle the options in cash. In order to cover potential 
drawings of these options, Occlutech Holding AG has estabalished 
”conditional share capital” with a face value of CHF 800,500. No per-
sonnel expenses are recorded at issuance of the options.

Foreign currency translation operational business
Balance sheet items are translated at the rate of the balance sheet 
day, profit and loss transactions with a monthly fixed average rate.

Currency translation at year end
For legal reasons (Swiss company law), the Financial Statements 
kept in a foreign currency are converted into CHF. Equity is translated 
at historic exchange rates, and assets, liabilities and profit and loss 
statement are converted into CHF at year end rate.

Applied exchange rates1 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

EUR/CHF 0.9651 0.9258

1) All balances except equity
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Notes to the Balance Sheet and Statement of profit and loss

Note 1
Cash and cash equivalents

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

 EUR 000 CHF 000 EUR 000 CHF 000

Cash 31,904 33,058 620 669
Time deposit investments – – 4,259 4,600

Total Cash and 
cash equivalents 31,904 33,058 4,878 5,269

Note 2
Loans due from subsidiaries

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

 EUR 000 CHF 000 EUR 000 CHF 000

Loans due from subsidiaries 6,895 7,144 3,033 3,276
Provision on loans -110 -114 -64 -69

Loans due from subsidiaries  6,785 7,030 2,969 3,206

Note 3
Participation table

   31.12.2021 31.12.2020
   Participations Participations
Direct participations Capital issued  in %1 in %1

Occlutech GmbH/Jena/Germany EUR 52,650 100 100
Occlutech International AB/Helsingborg/Sweden SEK 100,000 100 100
Occlutech (UK) Ltd./London/England GBP 500,000 100 100
Occlutech France SARS/Lyon/France EUR 1,402,000 100 100
Occlutech Tibbi Ürünler Sanayi/Istanbul/Turkey TRY 12,500,000 100 100
Occlutech Italia S.r.l/Milan/Italy EUR 600,000 100 100
Occlutech Australia Pty Ltd/Caringbah AUD 600,100 100 100
Occlutech New Zealand Ltd/Auckland NZD 600,000 100 100
Procora Holding AG/Schaffhausen/Switzerland CHF 100,000 100 100
Occlutech US LLC/Michigan/USA USD 100 100 –
Occlutech Canada Inc./Mississauga/Canada CAD 100 100 –

1) Voting and dividend rights are equal to the participation rights

Note 4
Other liabilities due to related parties

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

 EUR 000 CHF 000 EUR 000 CHF 000

Accounts payable subsidiaries 12,832 13,296 – –
Other liabilities subsidiaries – – 808 872
Accounts payable shareholder 100 104 491 530

Other liabilities due  
to related parties 12,932 13,399 1,299 1,403

Note 5
Short term loans

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

 EUR 000 CHF 000 EUR 000 CHF 000

Current loans due 
to third parties – – 3,610 3,900
Current loans due 
to shareholders – – 8,270 8,932
Revolving current
loans due to subsidiaries 1,227 1,271 3,447 3,724

Short term loans  1,227 1,271 15,327 16,556
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Note 6
Sharholders Equity

     Currency
 Share Legal Capital Retained translation Shareholders
EUR 000 capital reserves reserves earnings adjustment equity

Equity 30.06.2020 3,418 38 33,841 -33,679 – 3,618
Capital increase 394 – 7,052 – – 7,447
Loss 07-12.2020 – – – -5,483 – -5,483

Equity 31.12.2020 3,813 38 40,893 -39,161 0 5,582
Capital increase 1’874 – 54,729 – – 56,603
Loss 2021 – – – -19,909 – -19,909

Equity 31.12.2021 5,687 38 95,622 -59,070 0 42,277

     Currency
 Share Legal Capital Retained translation Shareholders
CHF 000 capital reserves reserves earnings adjustment equity

Equity 30.06.2020 4,213 50 40,087 -38,061 -2,436 3,854
Capital increase 421 – 7,535 – – 7,956
Loss 07-12.2020 – – – -5,922 – -5,922
Translation adjustment – – – – 142 142

Equity 31.12.2020 4,634 50 47,622 -43,983 -2,293 5,582
Capital increase 1,980 – 57,516 – – 59,496
Loss 2021 – – – -20,629 – -20,629
Translation adjustment – – – – -1,092 -1,092

Equity 31.12.2021 6,614 50 105,138 -64,612 -3,385 43,805

The fully paid-in share capital of the Company amounts to CHF 
6,614,083.60 (EUR 5,687 thousand) and is divided into 66,140,836 
registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.10.

Authorized capital
The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the share capital 
in one or more tranches within two years from June 30, 2021 by a 
maximum amount of CHF 1,867,833. Increases of the share capital 
in partial amounts is permitted.

Conditional capital for employee share option plans
The share capital may be increased by a maximum amount of CHF 
800,500 by issuing a maximum number of 8,005,000 fully paid-up 
registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.10 each by exercise 
of option rights, granted to the employees, members of the Execu-
tive Management or of the Board of Directors and its subsidiaries. 
Shareholders’ subscription rights are excluded in relation to these 
registered shares.

Capital increases
In 2021 the Company issued 98,110 bonus shares, and 19,698,526 
new shares to shareholders for a total of CHF 59.6 m, respectively 
124,070 bonus shares and 4,213,480 new shares for a total of  
CHF 8.1 m in 20201.

Share premium account
As of December 31, 2021 the Company has CHF 105.1m (EUR 95.6m) 
capital contribution reserves, which are tax-exempted for distribution 
to shareholders, whereas CHF 47.6m (EUR 40.9m) are approved by tax 
authorities, and CHF 57.5m (EUR 54.7m) relate to capital increases 
occurred in 2021 and are expected to be approved by the tax author-
ities in 2022.

1)  The number of shares presented for 2020 were adjusted for the 1/10 share split that 
occurred on June 30, 2021.
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Note 7
General and administrative expenditures

 2021 07-12/2020

 EUR 000 CHF 000 EUR 000 CHF 000

Finance IPO costs -5,657 -5,862 – –
Hard-/Software maintanance  
costs / license fees -1,181 -1,223 -69 -75
Other operating expenses -1,841 -1,907 -597 -645

General and administrative 
expenditures -8,679 -8,992 -666 -720

Note 8
Research and development expenditures

 2021 07-12/2020

 EUR 000 CHF 000 EUR 000 CHF 000

Recharges from 
subsidiaries for research/ 
development costs -13,488 -13,976 -6,933 -7,488
Other research and
development costs -785 -813 -363 -392

Research and development
expenditures  -14,273 -14,789 -7,296 -7,880

Note 9
Financial result

 2021 07-12/2020

 EUR 000 CHF 000 EUR 000 CHF 000

Interest income 76 79 6 7
Interest expenses -517 -535 -426 -460
Other financial income/expenses -11 -11 -5 -6
Foreign currency gains 731 758 428 462
Foreign currency losses -785 -813 -363 -392

Financial result -1,184 -1’227 -336 -363

Other information
The Company had in the current and previous year below 10 full-time 
equivalents.

Warrants on own equity instruments
In the past years, a total of 4,753,173 warrants were issued to the 
lenders of loans. On June 1, 2022, or immediately prior to a liquidity 
event (sale or IPO) of more than 80% of the Company’s shares, the 
warrants shall be converted into the corresponding number of shares 
against the prepayment of the strike process of CHF 0.10 per share.

The following table illustrates the number of and movements 
of outstanding warrants during the year (no warrants have been 
exercised):

Warrants during the year1 2021 2020

Outstanding as of January 1st 3,076,870 3,076,870
Granted during the year 1,335,613 340,690

Outstanding as of December 31st 4,753,173 3,417,560
Exercisable as of December 31st – –

Options from Share based payments
The following table illustrates the number of and movements in share 
options during the year (no options have been exercised or forfeited):

Share Options during the year1 2021 2020

Outstanding as of January 1st 1,896,670 1,839,190
Granted during the year – 57,480

Outstanding as of December 31st 1,896,670 1,896,670
Exercisable as of December 31st 1,896,670 1,853,560

The share options granted have an exercise price of EUR 1.74. Vesting 
periods are individually determined and may last up to four years. 
The exercise period varies between one and four years after the end 
of the vesting period.

Subsequent events
In April 2022, the Company received the “Exercise Notice” for all 
4,753,173 outstanding warrants as disclosed in Note 17 and Note 
25. The issuance of the 4,753,173 new shares from conditional capital 
of the Company is planned as of May 25, 2022 (completion date). 
Upon exercise of the warrants, the current derivative liability will be 
transferred to other reserves in equity. 

The Board of Directors and the Executive Management are not 
aware of any significant events occuring up to the date of approval of 
the statutory financial statements that would cause an adjustment of 
the carrying amounts of the company’s assets and liabilities.

The Russian military invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 has 
resulted in increased global economic uncertainty and there is, among 
other things, a risk of supply chain disruptions and/or rising prices 
of raw materials, including energy, as well as a risk of a slowdown in 
economic activity in general. The uncertainty prevailing at the time 
of publishing this report makes it difficult to assess how this will 
affect Occlutech’s future revenue and earnings, however the groups 
revenue from Russia, Belarus and Ukraine is limited to below 5% of 
total revenue and is why the impact is expected to be limited.

1)  The number of share options, share price and strike price presented for 2020, were adjusted 
for the 1/10 share split that occurred on June 30, 2021
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REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR

 

 

Deloitte AG 
Pfingstweidstrasse 11 
8005 Zürich  
Schweiz 
 
Phone: +41 (0)58 279 6000 
Fax: +41 (0)58 279 6600 
www.deloitte.ch 

 

Report of the Statutory Auditor 
 
To the General Meeting of 
OCCLUTECH HOLDING AG, SCHAFFHAUSEN 
 
Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statements  
 
As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements (pages 67 to 72) of Occlutech Holding AG, 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, and the statement of profit 
and loss and notes for year then ended. 
 
Board of Directors’ Responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of these financial statements in accordance with 
the requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes 
designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board 
of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the 
entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 comply with Swiss law and 
the company’s articles of incorporation. 
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OCCLUTECH HOLDING AG, SCHAFFHAUSEN 
   Report of the statutory auditor  

for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 

 

 

Report on Other Legal Requirements 
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act 
(AOA) and independence (article 728 Code of Obligations (CO)) and that there are no circumstances 
incompatible with our independence. 
 
In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an 
internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements 
according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 
 
We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved. 
 
 
Deloitte AG 
 
 
 
 
Matthias Gschwend Dominik Vögtli 
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert 
 
 
Zurich, May 4, 2022 
MGS/DVO/vpf 
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Definitions 
– Alternative performance measures 

The Group’s Key Performance Indicators
The Company applies the European Securities and Market Authority’s (ESMA) guidelines on alternative key performance measures. These 
guidelines aim to make alternative key performance measures in financial reports more comprehensible, reliable and comparable thereby 
promoting their usability. In these guidelines, an alternative key performance measure is a financial measurement of a historical or future 
earnings trend, financial position, financial result or cash flow that is not defined or stated in applicable rules for financial reporting in accordance 
with IFRS. The following key figures are used:

Revenue growth, % Difference in revenue between periods  
in relation to the same period in the 
previous year.

Used by the management to monitor the 
sales performance of the business.

Gross margin, % Gross profit in relation to revenue. Used to measure profitability after the 
deduction of the cost of goods sold.

EBITDA Operating profit/loss (EBIT) before interest, 
taxes, depreciation, and amortization.

Used to measure the profit/loss generated 
by the Company’s ongoing operations 
before interest, taxes, depreciation, and 
amortization.

EBITDA margin, % EBITDA in relation to revenue. Used to assess the profitability generated 
by the Company’s ongoing operations 
before interest, taxes, depreciation, and 
amortization.

Adjusted EBITDA EBITDA, excluding items affecting  
comparability.

Used to measure the profit/loss from the 
ongoing operations, excluding items 
affecting comparability, before interest, 
taxes, depreciation, and amortization.

Adjusted EBITDA margin, % Adjusted EBITDA in relation to revenue. Used to assess the profitability generated 
by the Company’s ongoing operations, 
excluding items affecting comparability, 
before interest, taxes, depreciation, and 
amortization.

Adjusted EBIT Operating profit/loss excluding items 
affecting comparability.

Used to measure the profit generated by 
the Company’s ongoing operations, 
includinginterest, taxes, depreciation, and 
amortizationbut excluding items affecting 
comparability.

Adjusted EBIT margin, % Adjusted profit/loss in relation to revenue. Used to monitor the Company’s profita-
bility generated by its operating activities, 
includinginterest, taxes, depreciation, and 
amortization, but excluding items affecting 
comparability.

Net debt Interest-bearing loans and borrowings less 
cash and cash equivalents

Used to monitor the indebtedness, financial 
flexibility and capital structure

Equity ratio Total equity attributable to the equity 
holders of the Parent company in relation  
to total assets

Used to monitor the financial risk expressed 
as the share of total assets financed by the 
shareholders.

Items affecting comparability Refers to material transactions lacking 
clear connections with the ordinary  
operations of the company that are not 
expected to occur regularly.

This measure is excluded when calculating 
the adjusted measures used to monitor  
the Company’s underlying earnings trend 
over time.

Key performance indicator Definition Purpose

DEFINITIONS
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